

Title	Evaluation of the effect of submucosal dexamethasone injection on pain in patients undergoing third molar removal: a randomised controlled trial
Authors	Crowley, Miriam
Publication date	2021-08-01
Original Citation	Crowley, M. 2021. Evaluation of the effect of submucosal dexamethasone injection on pain in patients undergoing third molar removal: a randomised controlled trial. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2021, Miriam Crowley https://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by-nc-nd/4.0/
Download date	2025-08-13 09:26:34
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/11899



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh Ollscoil na hÉireann, Corcaigh

National University of Ireland, Cork



Evaluation of the effect of submucosal dexamethasone injection on pain in patients undergoing third molar removal: A randomised controlled trial

Thesis presented by

Dr Miriam Crowley BDS, MFDS RCSEd, PGDip(Consc Sed), PGCert(Med Ed)

for the degree of

Doctor of Clinical Dentistry

University College Cork

Cork University Dental School and Hospital

Head of School: Dr Christine McCreary

Supervisor: Dr Catherine Gallagher

Table of Contents

List of tables and figures	7
List of abbreviations	9
Abstract	10
Objectives	10
Methods	10
Results	11
Conclusion	11
Declaration of Original Work	12
Acknowledgments	13
Chapter 1: Introduction	14
Chapter 2: Literature review	17
2.1 Overview and search strategy	17
Table 1.1 Search strategy	18
2.2 Background	19
2.3 Third Molars	21
2.3.1 Development and eruption	21
2.3.2 Problems with eruption	21
2.3.3 Classification of impaction	22
Figure 2.1 Classification of third molar impaction as described by Winter and Pell and Gregory	24
2.3 Extraction and Post-Operative Experience	25
2.3.1 Indications for extraction	25
2.3.2 Removal technique	27
2.3.3 Normal post-operative experience	28
2.3.4 Pain following dental surgery	30
2.3.5 Influence of corticosteroids on post-operative pain	32
2.3.6 Dexamethasone and third molar removal	33

2.4 Measuring the Impact of Third Molar Extraction on Patients	35
2.4.1 Patient reported outcome measures	35
2.4.2 Pain	36
2.4.3 Oral health related quality of life	37
2.4.4 Patient anxiety and personality and pain	38
2.5 Summary of Literature Review	42
2.6 Knowledge Gaps and Study Aims	44
2.7 Hypothesis	46
2.8 Aims and objectives	47
Chapter 3: Materials and Methods	48
3.1 Ethical Approval and informed consent	48
3.2 Study Design	48
Figure 3.1 Flow Chart of Study Design and Follow-up	49
3.3 Sample Size	50
3.4 Recruitment	50
3. 5 Randomisation	51
Figure 3.2 Sample Randomisation post-card once removed from the sealed opaque envelope	52
3.6 Operative Intervention	54
Figure 3.3 A patient undergoes surgical removal of mandibular third molars under general	
anaesthetic	55
3.7 Pre-operative data collection	57
3.8 Post-operative Data Collection	58
3.8.1 Surgical Questionnaire	58
3.8.1.1 State of Eruption	58
3.8.1.2 Classification of Impaction	59
3.8.1.2 Surgical technique	59
3.8.1.3 Difficulty of Extraction	59
3.8.2 Pain Assessment	60
3.8.3 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	60

3.8.4 Pain Diary	60
3.9 Discharge Advice	61
3.10 Follow-up	62
3.11 Patient Satisfaction	63
3.12 Statistical Analysis	64
Chapter 4: Results	66
4.1 Demographics	66
Table 4.1 Demographics of study participants	66
4.2 Recruitment and Attrition	67
Figure 4.1 Study recruitment and attrition per operating surgeon	67
4.3 Pre-operative assessment	68
4.3.1 Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	68
Table 4.2 Pre-operative HADS Anxiety	69
Table 4.3 Pre-operative HADS Depression	70
4.3.2 Pain Catastrophising Scale	71
Table 4.4 Patient characteristics for Pain Catastrophising Scale	71
4.3.3 Effect of pre-operative assessment scores on pain	71
4.3.4 Oral Health Impact Profile	72
Table 4.5 Patient characteristics OHIP-14	72
4.4 Surgical Assessment	73
4.4.1 State of Eruption	73
Table 4.6 Frequency distribution for State of eruption of Mandibular Third Molar	73
4.4.2 Classification of Impaction	75
Table 4.7 Frequency Distribution for Winter Classification of Impaction	75
4.4.3 Surgical technique	77
Table 4.8 Frequency distribution of the Surgical removal technique employed	78
4.4.4 Difficulty of Extraction	79
Table 4.9 Frequency distribution of Extraction Difficulty as Classified by the Operating Surgeon	79
4.4.5 Duration of surgery	80
Table 4.10 Mean Surgery Duration for Intervention and Control Site	80

4.4.6 Summary of Surgical Assessment	80
Figure 4.2 Histogram depicting Surgical Variables	81
4.5 Post-operative assessment	82
4.5.1 Pain Diary	82
Figure 4.3 Bar Chart representing results from Pain Diary	82
4.5.2 Analgesic Consumption	83
Figure 4.4 Post-operative Analgesic Consumption	84
4.5.3 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	85
Figure 4.5 Frequency Distribution of Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	85
Figure 4.6 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire; Present pain intensity and Visual Analogue	Scale
	86
4.5.4 Pain Assessment	87
Figure 4.7 Chi-Square Q-Q Plot with Data Following Non-Parametric Distribution	87
4.5.6 Visual Analogue Scale	88
Figure 4.8 Pain recorded on Visual Analogue Scale on Day 0 – Day 7 post-op.	88
Figure 4.9 Mean pain reported for intervention and control with 95% confidence intervals	89
4.5.7 The effect of surgery duration on pain reported	90
Figure 4.10 Effect of Surgical Duration on Pain Score	90
4.5.8 Linear mixed effects modelling	91
Table 4.11 Linear mixed-effects model	92
4.5.9 Patient Satisfaction	93
Figure 4.11 Bar Chart Representing Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale Response	94
4.5.10 Patient Preference	95
Figure 4.12 Bar Chart Indicating Patient Preference of Treatment Site	95
Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion	96
5.1 Discussion	96
5.1.1 Study design	96
5.1.2 Study Population Characteristics	103
5.1.3 Surgical Assessment	105
5.1.4 Intervention	110
5.1.5 Post-operative complications	111

5.1.6 Patient Preference	112
5.1.7 Implications for practice	112
5.2 Conclusion	114
References	116
Appendices	127
Appendix I	127
Appendix II	129
Appendix III	130
Appendix IV	131
Appendix V	132
Appendix VI	133
Appendix VII	134
Appendix VIII	135
Appendix IX	136
Appendix X	137

List of tables and figures

Table 1.1 Search strategy	17
Figure 2.1 Classification of third molar impaction as described by Winters and Pell and Gregory	23
Figure 3.1 Flow Chart of Study Design and Follow-up	47
Figure 3.2 Sample Randomisation post-card once removed from the sealed opaque envelope	50
Figure 3.3 A patient undergoes surgical removal of mandibular third molars under gen	eral
anaesthetic	53
Table 4.1 Demographics of study participants	65
Figure 4.1 Study recruitment and attrition per operating surgeon	66
Table 4.2 Pre-operative HADS Anxiety	68
Table 4.3 Pre-operative HADS Depression	69
Table 4.4 Patient characteristics for Pain Catastrophising Scale	70
Table 4.5 Patient characteristics OHIP-14	71
Table 4.6 Frequency distribution for State of eruption of Mandibular Third Molar	72
Table 4.7 Frequency Distribution for Winter Classification of Impaction	74
Table 4.8 Frequency distribution of the Surgical removal technique employed	77
Table 4.9 Frequency distribution of Extraction Difficulty as Classified by the Operating Surgeon	78
Table 4.10 Mean Surgery Duration for Intervention and Control Site	79
Figure 4.2 Histogram depicting Surgical Variables	80
Figure 4.3 Bar Chart representing results from Pain Diary	81
Figure 4.4 Post-operative Analgesic Consumption	82
Figure 4.5 Frequency Distribution of Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire	83
Figure 4.6 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire; Present pain intensity and Visual Analogue So	cale
	84
Figure 4.7 Chi-Square Q-Q Plot with Data Following Non-Parametric Distribution	85
Figure 4.8 Pain recorded on Visual Analogue Scale on Day 0 – Day 7 post-op.	86
Figure 4.9 Mean pain reported for intervention and control with 95% confidence intervals	87
Figure 4.10 Effect of Surgical Duration on Pain Score	89

Figure 4.10 Effect of Surgical Duration on Pain Score

Table 4.11 Linear mixed-effects model	91
Figure 4.11 Bar Chart Representing Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale Response	92
Figure 4.12 Bar Chart Indicating Patient Preference of treatment Site	94

List of abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning	
CREC	Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching	
	Hospitals	
FMPF	Full-thickness mucoperiosteal flap	
GPE	Global perceived effect	
HADS	Hospital anxiety and depression scale	
MID	Minimal importance difference	
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence	
NRS	Numeric rating scale	
NSAIDS	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	
OHIP-14	Oral health impact profile-14 questionnaire	
PCS	Pain catastrophising Scale	
PPI	Present pain intensity scale	
PROMs	Patient reported outcome measures	
SFMcGill	Short form McGill pain questionnaire	
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network	
VAS	Visual analogue scale	
VDS	Verbal descriptor scale	

Abstract

Objectives

Third molar removal is one of the most common oral surgery procedures performed in Ireland. Pain, swelling and trismus are well-documented, undesirable consequences following third molar removal. These sequelae have a negative impact on the patients' quality of life post-operatively. We aimed to compare the effect of a submucosal injection containing 4mg dexamethasone on the post-operative pain experienced by the patient versus a control of standard surgical removal of a mandibular third molar on the contralateral side. We also analysed patient preference of treatment regime.

Methods

A randomised controlled trial was conducted involving 70 patients undergoing surgical removal of bilateral, symetrically-impacted mandibular third molars under general anaesthetic in Cork University Hospital. Each patient acted as their own control in this split-mouth study, with all treatment carried out at one single visit. All subjects received standard local anaesthetic bilaterally in the form of inferior alveolar block and long buccal infiltration with 2% lidocaine with 1:80,000 epinephrine. The site randomised for intervention received a 1ml submucosal injection of 4mg dexamethasone in the buccal vestibule adjacent to the lower third molar following administration of local anaesthetic. Both the patient and investigator were blinded to the intervention site. The primary outcome measure of pain was self-reported and

recorded by the patient for the right and left surgical site for seven days following intervention using a visual analogue scale.

Results

Pain and inflammation are normal physiological responses to tissue trauma such as surgery. The age range of the participants in the trial was 16 to 54 years of age, with the mean age being 22 years (SD 5.7 years) and median age 21 years. The study participants were comprised of 44 females and 26 males. We demonstrated that the reported pain scale (VAS 0-100mm) decreases moderately with the treatment intervention of 4mg dexamethasone as a submucosal injection (Estimate: -3.32, CI: - 5.36 to -1.28, p < 0.01).

Conclusion

This trial demonstrated a minor but consistent improvement in analgesic effect when submucosal dexamethasone was administered in comparison to control supporting the alternative hypothesis. The effect size detected was minimal (estimated 3% improvement) and as such deemed not clinically meaningful for patients. Therefore, the routine use of submucosal dexamethasone injection in the extraction of impacted third molars should not be recommended.

Declaration of Original Work

This is to certify that the work I am submitting is my own and has not been submitted for another degree, either at University College Cork or elsewhere. All external references and sources are clearly acknowledged and identified within the contents. Input from other researchers is acknowledged within the text. I have read and understood the regulations of University College Cork concerning plagiarism

Marly

Dr Miriam Crowley

Acknowledgments

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the patients who participated in this trial, providing their time and effort to complete the study. I would also like to acknowledge the guidance and support provided by my supervisor and mentors at Cork University Dental School and Hospital, namely Dr. Catherine Gallagher, Professor Duncan Sleeman, Dr. Richeal Ni Riordain, Dr. Caroline McCarthy and Dr. Paul Brady, four of whom are the skilled surgeons who performed the surgeries involved in the trial. Your advice and guidance is greatly appreciated.

Specifically, I would like to acknowledge the work and contribution of Dr. Wiley Barton of Teagasc Moorepark, Fermoy, Co. Cork which has been essential to completing this project. Your expertise in biostatistics was invaluable to our data analysis.

I must also express gratitude to my family for their continued support. It is a running joke for my family that I am UCC's longest serving student, involving constant questions as to which course I will sign up for next. Unfortunately, as the realisation that my days of representing UCC on a playing field are well and truly behind me a life of academia does not sound so bad!

To my husband Owen, thank you for your ever-present support, patience and proofreading skills. You made completing a PhD look easy so the undertaking of this Clinical Doctorate is partially your fault.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Third molar removal is the most commonly performed oral surgical procedure, costing society tens of millions in the United Kingdom and the United States of America each year (1-4). There are many factors to consider before a decision to remove a mandibular third molar can be reached, involving a through medical, dental and social history combined with clinical and radiographic assessment. Removal of symptomatic or diseased third molars has been shown to improve oral health and function of patients (5, 6). Each patient requires a holistic, tailored approach. Due to anatomical variations of the third molar tooth in relation to associated vital structures, such as the inferior alveolar nerve, the patient should be involved in the treatment decision-making process. The World Health Organisation (WHO) characterises the presence of an impacted third molar as a developmental condition within their International Classification of Disease (7). However, impaction is a descriptive term and is not an indication for surgery when being considered alone. Management strategies for mandibular third molars can range from clinical monitoring, partial removal in the form of coronectomy or removal.

Following third molar removal, as with other surgical procedures, postoperative pain is a common undesirable outcome (8-10). It is estimated that 40% of patients undergoing day-case surgical procedures experience moderate to severe post-operative pain (11). Despite the focus of research investigations on postoperative pain, it remains poorly managed and a challenge for clinicians (12, 13). Post-operative pain negatively impacts on the patient's quality of life in the days

following intervention (14). This negative impact on an individual's quality of life can have a wider socio-economic impact through days absent from the work place to allow recovery (15).

There are continual efforts in the literature to explore intra-operative and post-operative methods of reducing pain following the removal of mandibular third molars (16-18). Intra-operative techniques aimed at minimising post-operative pain included comparing various local-anaesthetic regimens (19, 20). With the consistently high numbers of people requiring third molar removal each year, it is our aim to undertake a robust clinical trial that can provide reliable evidence to guide clinicians in the challenge of minimising the post-surgical pain experienced by the patients. In order to achieve a sound study design, our methodology introduced some subtle but significant changes when compared to existing trials reported in the literature. In clinical trials that investigated the effect of peri-operative dexamethasone, various routes of administration were employed ranging from oral tablet formulation, intra-muscular, intra-alveolar to intra-venous administration (21-23). Our clinical trial investigates the effects of the submucosal administration of 4mg dexamethasone on pain reported at the surgical site. A submucosal route has the benefit of providing local effects but avoiding systemic administration. Furthermore, submucosal administration local to the surgical is an accessible site for dentists or oral surgeons to access with minimal further training or equipment required.

The majority of clinical trials in this field use a visual analogue scale to measure patient reported pain. As pain reported is a subjective measurement we

strived to minimise any confounding factors. We set out to achieve this by incorporating questionnaires such as the Pain Catastrophising Scale (PCS) to give further insight into each patient's relationship with pain. A key aspect to our study design that differs to those previously reported in the literature is the split-mouth technique. This study design itself is not novel, however previous clinical trials that engaged this design when investigating pain following third molar surgery did so over two appointments with a period of weeks between procedures (24). The intervention being carried out at two separate visits could lead to the introduction of cross-over or observational bias. In our clinical trial patients experience both the intervention and control while under general anaesthetic allowing for real-time comparison of the surgical sites. The split-mouth design also eliminated the potential for cross-over bias. Our inclusion criteria allowed for symmetrically impacted third molars further minimising any differences in intervention technique or difficulty at the control or intervention site.

This clinical trial and its primary results have been presented in an oral format at the Irish Division Virtual Scientific Meeting 2021 of the International Association of Dental Research (25).

Chapter 2: Literature review

2.1 Overview and search strategy

The existing literature was reviewed focusing on three main elements; firstly, the development and eruption of the third molars, secondly, the removal of the third molars and the associated post-operative experience for the patient and finally how we can measure the impact of third molar removal on the patient.

An electronic search was conducted of the Cochrane Library, PubMed and MedLine EBSCO databases between the dates of January 1st 2000 and December 31st 2019. The PICOS framework was followed whilst undertaking the search (Table 1). The reference lists of included studies were also searched for any further trials of relevance. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to the identified articles and any duplicates were disregarded. Eligibility criteria included meta-analysis, systematic reviews, randomised controlled trials, controlled trials, participants aged over 16 years undergoing removal of at least one mandibular third molar. Studies involving the administration of submucosal dexamethasone in varying doses, pre or post-operatively were included.

Table 1.1 Search strategy

	#1: Third molars OR wisdom teeth.	
Population	impacted third molar OR impacted wisdom tooth	24,238
	#2: Devamethasone AND (submucosal OR	
Intervention	#2, Dexamethasone AND (submiceosar OK	16,075
	submucosal injection)	
Comparison	#3; Control OR placebo effect	20
	#4; Post-operative pain AND/OR quality of	
Outcome	life AND/OR oedema AND/OR trismus	311680
	Randomised controlled trail AND	
Study design	controlled trial	
Search Combination	#1 AND #2 AND #3 AND #4	166
	Cochrane Library, PubMed, Medline	
Database search	EBSCO	166
Limitations applied; Inclusion	Meta-analysis, RCT, systematic-review,	
		5
and exclusion criteria	clinical trial	

2.2 Background

Pain, swelling and trismus are undesirable consequences of third molar removal. A multitude of different interventions aimed at reducing post-operative pain following surgical removal of lower wisdom teeth have been researched and reported. Such researched interventions range from pre-operative administration of local anaesthetic (19), intra-operative interventions including novel surgical techniques or alternative local anaesthetic regimes (20, 26) and post-operative interventions such as the use of cryotherapy (27). The administration of corticosteroids as a modulator of inflammation has been examined in various studies (24, 28, 29), however there is no consensus on the optimal route of administration.

There is low-quality evidence that dexamethasone administered as a submucosal injection peri-operatively has been found to reduce early stage post-operative pain for patients (30, 31). High quality evidence is required to provide both statistical and clinical significance to results allowing any potential change in practice. A review of the literature was undertaken to better understand the post-operative experience of the patient undergoing surgical removal of third molars along with the methods used to quantify the impact surgery had on the patient. Surgical removal of third molars is the most commonly undertaken oral surgical procedure, with lower third molars the most commonly impacted tooth (32). In order to better understand the potential reasons behind impaction it is important to explore the development and eruption pathway of these teeth. Accordingly, this literature review will be presented in three sections – third molar development and eruption, extraction and

post-operative experience and how we measure the impact of third molar surgery on patients.

2.3 Third Molars

2.3.1 Development and eruption

Tooth development and timing of eruption can vary significantly with race and ethnicity (33). Third molars erupt between the age of 17 and 24 years, with initial development commencing as early as 5 years in certain populations (34). The stages of third molar development have been described by Demirijian et al. (35). The developmental process of teeth can be a valuable biomarker for age. Demirijian described development in eight identifiable stages, ranging from the beginning of calcification in the crypt to the final stage of development, closure of root apices (35, 36). The concept of physiological age is founded on the degree of maturation or development of a specific tissue system. Demirijian's technique is widely used at estimating age in populations based on the dental tissue. Timing of development of third molars is population specific, occurring at a different age in varying ethnic groups (33, 37-39). Crown formation can complete between the age range of 13 -15.5 years depending on race (34, 40-42). The timing of eruption can be influenced by local factors such as early loss of deciduous tooth however such factors do not influence tooth development and formation (43). As with varying degree of tooth development at certain age points, the timing of eruption can also vary significantly with race and ethnicity (33).

2.3.2 Problems with eruption

Eruption is a descriptive term to describe the relationship of the crown of the tooth in the oral cavity. Teeth can be unerupted, partially erupted, fully erupted or absent.

The congenital absence of one or more teeth is known as tooth agenesis. Many causes for agenesis are suggested in the literature, some contradictory. An individual's race or genetics, developmental or growth delays along with the morphology or size of the jaw are all potential reasons cited as the cause of third molar agenesis (44-46). The prevalence of agenesis of one or more third molar varies between populations. A systematic review and meta-analysis carried out in 2015 found a global rate of 22.63% relating to third molar agenesis (47). This systematic review found a higher prevalence of one third molar absence over multiples of absent teeth. Most commonly the maxillary third molars were found to be absent and with a higher prevalence in females (47).

Teeth are said to be impacted if they are prevented from erupting, either partially or fully into the mouth. This impaction can be caused by soft or hard tissue, including bone or an adjacent tooth. Third molars are the most commonly impacted tooth in the arch (48). These impactions can be a result of a lack of space in the arch or development of the tooth in an abnormal position (49).

2.3.3 Classification of impaction

Assessment of the position of the third molar in relation to the surrounding anatomical structures is an important step in planning surgical removal and an attempt to predict surgical difficulty. Thorough clinical examination and assessment of third molars prior to removal is essential. Sufficient assessment of the crown and root of the tooth are crucial to minimise unforeseen difficulties encountered during the surgery. Mandibular third molars are the most commonly impacted tooth in the

human dentition (48). In 2015 a study was published showing 73% of third molars are impacted in a European cohort (50). Dachi and Howell looked at the prevalence of impacted molars in a cohort of 3874 participants and found the incidence of impaction of mandibular third molars to be 17.5% (51). There are various theories related to the cause of third molar impaction including the orthodontic theory, Polygenic inheritance theory, Mendelian theory, pathological and endocrinal theory (52). A classification system for the position of third molars was first proposed by Winter in 1926 (53). Four criteria were assessed: position of the crown, character of root formation, nature of the bone surrounding the tooth and position of the third molar in relation to the second (53). A second classification system of third molar impaction was presented by Pell and Gregory in 1933 focusing on the distance from the crown of the third molar to the ramus, the relative depth of the third molar within the ramus or relative to the occlusal plane along with the position of the third molar relative to the long axis of the adjacent second molar (54). These systems aim to grade impactions according to the relative difficulty involved in surgical removal (54). Unfortunately, studies have shown these assessment tools to be insensitive in predicting surgical difficulty, however they are widely accepted as a descriptive classification term (55, 56).

Looking to combine and apply the existing impaction classification systems further, Pederson created an index to assess and pre-empt the difficulty for the removal of a third molar focusing on three different factors; angulation of impaction, depth of the tooth relative to the occlusal surface and the relationship of the tooth to the ramus (57). These factors were scored with the sum total corresponding to a

difficulty index ranging from slightly difficult to moderately or very difficult. Each category had weighted options. A score of greater than five was classified as moderately difficult (57). This index has not been validated or widely accepted. Independent patient factors such as age, race, sex and bone density are thought to play more of a role in difficulty of extraction (58). Studies have shown the most relevant of these patient variables to be age, body mass index, root curvature and depth from point of elevation (59). Other studies which show that patient age affects surgical difficulty, have reported that these older patients undergoing 'difficult' third molar removal do not report an increase in the pain experienced by the patient in the post-operative period (9, 60).



Figure 2.1 Classification of third molar impaction as described by Winter and Pell and Gregory

2.3 Extraction and Post-Operative Experience

2.3.1 Indications for extraction

There is continual debate over management and justification for removal of third molar teeth. Guidelines for the management of third molars were first produced in 1997 by Royal College of Surgeons in England and continue to be revised regularly by various expert groups. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) published guidance in 2000 advocating against the prophylactic removal of mandibular third molars. The NICE guidance was supported by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network (SIGN) in the United Kingdom. Current advice from these bodies states the removal of pathology free third molars has no health benefit to patients and should be discontinued (49, 61-63). This is contrary to previous published studies advocating for the prophylactic removal of third molars (64, 65), however the methodology of these studies was open to bias. There is now a growing body of evidence suggesting retaining pathology free third molars is simply delaying inevitable surgery and the cause of future pathology associated to the site (66, 67). NICE are currently updating their guidance following a review of the evidence in 2015. These changing recommendations have had an effect on the patient demographic undergoing intervention for third molars along with improved recordkeeping by the dentist reporting the reason for removal. Patient records are showing that there has been a reduction in prophylactic removal of third molars and an increase in pathology such as caries or recurrent pericoronitis being reported as justification for removal of third molars. This change in guidance has also resulted in a change of the age profile of patients undergoing third molar removal in the UK.

There has been a shift from patients undergoing third molar surgery in their early twenties in 1989, where justification for removal was mainly reported as prophylactic, to the mid-30 age group of patients undergoing removal in 2008, consisting of older adults who have developed pathologies associated with third molars, now requiring removal (1). Compliance with the current guidance in the United Kingdom was stated to be high due to the low cost of implementation (68). Even with the change in guidance, removal of third molars continues to account for a significant proportion of oral surgery procedures. The Royal College of Surgeons England, Faculty of Dental Surgery published an updated guidance and consensus document in April 2021, citing the need for review of the existing guidance due to growing evidence suggesting retention of lower third molars is leading to patient harm (69). They advocate a number of management options for mandibular third molars based on clinical evidence, namely clinical review or intervention when indicated.

In the United States of America the latest guidance is evidence-based, however the guidance is supportive of the surgeons' role in providing patient-centred treatment and assisting the patient in making a decision that is in their best interest (70). This patient-centred approach gives weight to the patients' thoughts and attitudes toward intervention.

2.3.2 Removal technique

Surgical removal of an impacted third molar is the most commonly performed oral surgery procedure. A variety of techniques can be utilised for the removal of the impacted tooth including chisel and mallet, rotary instruments or ultrasonic instruments. The earliest documented technique is the lingual split. This technique described by Ward involves removing overlying distal bone with a chisel and mallet, then fracturing the lingual plate allowing sufficient space to elevate out the impacted tooth (71). When compared to more recent techniques such as rotary bur or piezoelectric surgery, the lingual split technique causes less pain and swelling for the patient, however a higher incidence of nerve injury is observed (72).

Piezosurgey was introduced to oral surgery in 1988 and since then the technology has continued to adapt and grow in its uses. The instrument produces micro vibrations at a frequency high enough to allow a precise cut (73). An advantage of the piezo is its selective cutting, thereby protecting soft tissue, vessels and nerves. The disadvantage continues to be the increase in operative time along with the need to revert back to the rotary bur if tooth sectioning is required (73, 74). Today the most commonly-used technique is buccal bone removal by means of rotary bur and external irrigation. This technique can have a shorter operating time when compared to piezosurgery (73). However, disadvantages include increased post-operative trismus and pain experienced by the patient. No difference is noted in post-operative complications in high versus low speed rotary hand piece for buccal bone removal in the removal of impacted third molars (75). Procedure duration has been shown to directly impact on post-operative pain experienced (76). Some studies show that despite the longer surgical time taken for piezosurgery this does not show a significant increase in post-operative pain; however this is low-quality evidence open to significant bias (77). Healing postoperatively was shown to be most delayed following rotary bur technique, followed by ultrasonic, then chisel and mallet (78). This slow healing is attributed to the heat that may be generated from the instrument causing necrosis of the bone (78). Studies have reported the greater the experience levels of the operator in any technique, the greater the reduction in post-operative pain reported by the patient (79, 80).

2.3.3 Normal post-operative experience

Many studies and articles document the morbidity associated with removal of impacted third molars and have assessed the impact on quality of life for the patient in the days and weeks following surgery. From a patient perspective, pain can be the main concern following the removal of third molars. Data looking at post-operative pain can be subjective, as pain experienced by an individual cannot be objectively quantified. Conrad *et al.* surveyed a cohort of 249 patients for 14 days following the removal of third molars' perception of healing following the surgery (60). The cohort was predominantly female and below 25 years of age meaning the data would need to be interpreted with some caution as it is not a true representative population of all patients undergoing third molar removal. The study found that only 30% of patients experienced severe pain on day 1 post-removal. The group reported by post-operative day 4 the pain reported was not affecting the patients activity levels, however functions such as chewing and mouth-opening were

affected 'quite a bit' (60). Other studies found the effect on functional ability such as eating, speaking and swallowing were the greatest factors influencing a delayed return to work for the participant as opposed to pain (81, 82). The subjective nature of pain can be seen when studies find women are less likely than men to return to work sooner (81). Lopes carried out a prospective study of 522 patients undergoing third molar removal over a 12-month period finding 49.2% still complaining of pain 7-10 days' post-surgery. Other complaints experienced by lower numbers at this time scale included swelling, trismus and paraesthesia. Interestingly they found 81% of patients took time off work following surgery, with an average of three days' sick leave. Conversely 19% of patients they looked at took no time off work (83). The removal of third molars is consistently the most commonly performed oral surgical procedure and with over 150,000 people in England undergoing removal each year, the post-operative effects on the patient can have a knock-on effect in society (84). Studies carried out in Scandinavia and America investigated the duration of disability or loss of productivity for the patients (15, 85, 86). Bienstock and his team prospectively observed a cohort of more than 4000 participants, who had 8748 third molars removed (15, 85). They included both erupted and non-erupted third molars, along with maxillary and mandibular third molars so the figures calculated for days absent from work and loss of ability could be conservative at best. Of the third molars included in the study, 92% had some pathology associated with the tooth. Regardless of these limitations, this group found workers were absent from work for a mean of 1.3 +/- 1.3 days from work following third molar removal. The range of days absent was 0-11 days for the 4004 study participants. The range of days' patients experienced disability to undertake normal activities was 0-26 days. A Swedish study

investigating the economic impact of mandibular third molar removal found patients had a mean of 1.57 days' absence from work, with a range of 0-22 days. In this study nature of impaction or state of eruption of the third molar were not recorded(86). This group calculated the total costs of removing a third molar, inclusive of direct and indirect costs such as absence from work, at between €500-1000, which is a significant impact on society given the number of patients undergoing removal on an annual basis.

Studies on gender and perception of pain do show women experience pain at a higher intensity than men (87, 88). This finding, that women experience a greater intensity of pain, is reflected again in a randomised controlled trial involving 92 patients finding women perceived a bigger impact on quality of life in the days and weeks following surgery (89).

2.3.4 Pain following dental surgery

The surgical site, when removing lower third molars, is a highly vascularised area comprised of loose connective tissues. As a result of surgical intervention a series of alterations are expected, causing significant morbidity for the patient such as swelling, trismus and pain (79, 90). Pain is defined by The International Association for the Study of Pain as 'an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage' (91). Pain can be a major post-operative outcome of any surgical procedure including extraction of wisdom teeth. Pain mediators are released from tissues following trauma as an inflammatory process is activated. Mediators such as prostaglandin and bradykinin cause firing of peripheral

nociceptors. Repetitive firing of these receptors can lead to central sensitisation and increased responsiveness of neurons responsible for prolonged pain after surgery (92, 93). Patients become increasingly more sensitive to pain the longer they are exposed to the stimulus and the firing nociceptor (94). Consistently, surveys have shown that post-operative pain is not adequately treated (95, 96). Inhibiting or blocking some of these pain and inflammatory mediators are the basis for analgesics. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs block the synthesis of prostaglandin and bradykinin producing their analgesic effect (97, 98). This is done by inactivating cyclooxygenase. For oral surgery procedures, onset of pain is generally 4-6 hours following the procedure when the local anaesthetic has worn off (99). The teaching promoting pre-emptive analgesia is commonplace in dental surgery. This theory has been around since the early 1900's with Crile introducing pre-emptive and prevention analgesia in 1913. This involves administering analgesic before the injury or surgical procedure to allow it to be operational in minimising the physiological consequences invoked by the surgery. Pre-emptive analgesics potentially inhibit central sensitisation of central nociceptors and peripheral sensitisation by impeding the formation and release of pain mediators in injured tissues at the surgical site (93). Further evidence to support pre-emptive nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories was provided by Swift and Hargreaves, whose study found significantly reduced postoperative pain reported by patients having received pre-op analgesics (100).

Many analgesics tested for pain management are tested using a dental model as surgical removal of third molars is a common procedure. This results in a wealth of information available on the efficacy of analgesics for dental pain. Combination therapy is recommended for acute post-operative pain following third molar surgery.

The benefit of a multi-modal approach can be appreciated by understanding the pathogenesis of pain and accepting the different pain and inflammatory mediators that are being blocked. Paracetamol and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory (NSAIDS) drugs can provide moderate pain relief, with opioids (101) providing breakthrough pain relief for severe pain. Paracetamol is an anti-pyretic drug with minimal side-effects (102). Paracetamol is commonly used as part of a multi-modal treatment of pain. Paracetamol does not have anti-inflammatory effects so is rarely used alone following surgery but in combination with another drug (103). There are some studies which suggest that this multi-modal approach is unnecessary with similar pain reported using ibuprofen alone versus paracetamol alone in a three day post-operative follow up; however these studies go against the larger body of work reporting otherwise (104).

2.3.5 Influence of corticosteroids on post-operative pain

As previously mentioned due to the vascular nature of the tissues surrounding lower third molars, patients can experience significant swelling and pain post-operatively. Localized inflammation at a surgical site due to tissue damage is a normal physiological response. Corticosteroids have been used for many years to reduce post-operative inflammation; however, their mechanism of action is not completely clear. Dexamethasone is a corticosteroid with mainly glucocorticoid effects, first synthesised in 1957 (105). There is greater affinity for dexamethasone than endogenous cortisol at the glucocorticoid receptors (106). Dexamethasone binds to the receptor, releasing an activated complex. This steroid-protein complex initiates changes in DNA of target genes. These target genes in turn lead to the synthesis of new proteins, which initiate a further biological response. The main result of this reaction is the blocking of multiple inflammatory genes, supressing prostaglandin and bradykinin formation (107, 108). Bradykinin is an inflammatory mediator produced at the site of tissue trauma causing pain (109). Furthermore, dexamethasone prevents the build-up of leukocytes and macrophages at the surgical site, this is a result of the glucocorticoid causing apoptosis in inflammatory cells reducing the cellular immune response (108). Inflammation is a normal physiological response to tissue trauma and a certain inflammatory response is required for healing. The cardinal signs of inflammation include calor (heat), dolor (pain), rubor (redness) and tumor (swelling) (110). Excessive levels of swelling and inflammation lead to pain and reduced quality of life for the patient (111). It is our hope that in reducing the levels of inflammation experienced by the patient following a submucosal injection of dexamethasone, we will minimise the pain experienced local to the surgical site.

2.3.6 Dexamethasone and third molar removal

Studies have looked at the effect of dexamethasone as a pharmacological method of reducing the pain, swelling and trismus following third molar removal (24, 28, 29). Corticosteroids administered in a variety of routes have been shown to reduce post-operative swelling, however these studies lack comparability or homogeneity (112). Several different protocols of dexamethasone, including differing route of administration and dosage have been described but no consensus or guidance has been standardised. There are confounding factors affecting accurate comparison between studies, such as the formulation of medication, variety of routes used to

administer steroids, the dosage of steroid, the presence of infection at the time of extraction (24, 112). The optimum steroid used should reduce local inflammatory reactions but have little effect systemically. Dexamethasone has good glucocorticoid effect and causes minimal sodium retention, properties which support its use in dentoalveolar surgery. As such, dexamethasone fits the criteria for having negligible mineralocorticoid activity yet a great biologic effect. Dexamethasone also has a long half-life of 36-54 hours which is much greater when compared to other corticosteroids such as hydrocortisone (111). Submucosal administration has advantages when compared to other routes of delivery including low dosage of drug required for effect, drug administration close to the surgical site and low systemic absorption of the drug resulting in fewer side effects (111). The short term exposure and low systemic absorption of the drug results in minimal systemic uptake and adverse effects (24).

2.4 Measuring the Impact of Third Molar Extraction on Patients

<u>2.4.1 Patient reported outcome measures</u>

Patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) are often used in clinical practice to gain feedback on patients' perceptions and views of their health and their healthcare experience. These self-reported questionnaires can help quantify and give weighting to the subjective feelings and views of the patient regarding various outcomes such as pain or quality of life (113, 114). PROMS have been shown to facilitate increased communication between patient and clinician which in turn can lead to shared decision-making for treatment (115, 116). Surveys of clinicians have shown a majority of professionals who use PROMs utilise them as a means to track patient progress (117). There are many tools for assessing patient based outcome measures in clinical trials varying from site-specific, to disease-specific to generic. Fitzpatrick et al. set out criteria of eight items to be used by researchers when evaluating and selecting the patient-based outcome measures to be used in their clinical trial (118). These criteria were compiled following a comprehensive review of the literature surrounding PROMs; however, it must be recognised that this is a qualitative summary of the findings and expert opinion. Therefore, the criteria set out by this team may be flawed and should be interpreted with care. The eight criteria include, appropriateness, reliability, validity, responsiveness, precision, interpretability, feasibility and acceptability. The use of patient-centred outcome scales is now seen as invaluable. This is compounded by the finding that surgeon-reported success measures of a procedure can significantly vary from patient-reported outcomes and experience (82).
<u>2.4.2 Pain</u>

The visual analogue scale (VAS) is a one-dimensional scale to measure the pain intensity experienced at a given time. It does not give descriptors of the type of pain being experienced by the patient. A visual analogue scale is a line anchored with terms such as 'no pain' and 'worst pain possible', where the patient is requested to mark on the line indicating where their pain equates. The VAS can be depicted as a vertical or horizontal line, with greater reliability observed with the horizontal style (119). VAS is validated as a measure of pain for patients suffering from chronic pain (120, 121). There has been some criticism of VAS following procedures under general anaesthetic.

Other tools used to report pain experienced include a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) or a Verbal Descriptor scale (122). The NRS was developed in 1984 and gives a unidimensional report of the pain. Pain is reported using a numeric value 0-10, descriptors of boundaries are often 'no pain' to 'worst possible pain'. The NRS has been shown to be useful in patients in both young and old age groups, those patients with poor English or for use in phone surveys where the investigator can record the number reported by the patient (123).

Questionnaires such as the short form McGill Pain Questionnaire can provide more information related to the pain, providing sensory descriptors relating to the pain in combination with a pain intensity score (124). This questionnaire gives a second dimension to the pain measures by engaging three tools to provide information about the type of pain experienced rather than simply the present pain

36

intensity. This questionnaire utilises descriptive words, a VAS and a Verbal Descriptor Scale (VDS) to gather as much information as possible about the pain being experienced by the patient. This questionnaire has repeatedly been shown to be valid (124, 125). There are eleven descriptive terms and three affective terms each scored by the patient. The SF McGill quantifies the overall present pain intensity experienced by the patient, using both a 100mm visual analogue scale and a six point Likert scale with end points 'None' to 'Excruciating'. Verbal Descriptor Scales (VDS) were first introduced in 1968 by Keel. Used alone they have limited value as the words used are restrictive; however, they have been adapted and included in questionnaires such as the SFMcGill pain questionnaire (123). When used in combination with other scales they can give further insight into the pain experienced.

2.4.3 Oral health related quality of life

Quality of life is a multidimensional concept. It can be defined as a measurement of the impact a disease or treatment has on a patient's daily life, wellbeing and functioning. The main tools used for the assessment of quality of life are selfreported questionnaires. Oral health-related quality of life questionnaires aim to look at the impact an oral condition has on the patients daily activities and social interaction (126). Patient-reported outcomes are an increasingly important measure in success of treatment in a patient-centred approach to treatment. Although quality of life is a subjective it should be a key focus of patient-centred treatment. The Oral Health Impact Profile (OHIP) was developed in 1994 by Slade (127). This 49-point questionnaire aimed to provide a self-reported measure of oral discomfort, dysfunction and disability. The questionnaire was modelled on the concepts

described the World Health Organisation's classification and hierarchy of impacts of a disease and Lockers model of oral health (128, 129). A shortened validated 14-item version (OHIP-14) was developed by Slade in 1997 which was found to be short, practical and easy to complete (130). The fourteen statements relate to the functional, physical, psychological and social impact a specific oral disorder is having on the patient's quality of life. In this study, the impact of interest is that associated with impacted mandibular third molar teeth (Appendix VI). Each statement is scored on a four-point Likert scale including 'never', 'sometimes', 'often', 'always'. The greater the sum total of the score, the greater the impact of the impacted mandibular molars on the patient's well-being. A maximum score of 42 is possible. It should be noted that all measures in the OHIP questionnaire are adverse or negative outcomes so no possible positive outcome can be derived (131). Questionnaires focusing on quality of life can provide a subjective perception of the impact a disease or treatment intervention can have on a patients overall wellbeing in the short or long term.

2.4.4 Patient anxiety and personality and pain

Correlation has been seen between pain reported and the personality of the patient. This can be rationalised as the nature and severity of pain is a product of the tissue damage along with patient cognitive experiences. Studies have shown that anxiety and stress can be tied to the reported pain level (132). Many studies have shown a link between high anxiety levels pre-operatively and greater perceived pain levels following an intervention (133, 134). It is thought that this heightened pain can be reasoned as an attentional bias towards the pain (135). To identify any probable predisposing and undiagnosed anxiety or depressive disorders investigators can utilize tools to identify probable cases of anxiety and depression within the study population. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) was developed in 1983 by Zigmond and Snaith (136). HADS is a fourteen-item, self-rated scale designed to assess psychological distress in a non-psychiatric population (Appendix IV) (136). This questionnaire is a concise yet effective measure used to identify anxiety levels. This scale is easy to complete in a pre-admissions area and takes approximately 5 minutes. This is critical in our study where there are varying levels of anxiety among patients regarding extraction and in order to reduce confounding factors. It was originally designed to identify depression and anxiety disorders away from a psychiatric hospital setting and has been found to be effective (137, 138). The questionnaire is broken down into two subscales, 7 items forming an anxiety subscale and 7 items in a depression subscale, with the items intermingled throughout. Each item is scored by ticking one of four responses which relates best to the patient, ranging from "no not at all" to "yes definitely". These responses are scored from 0-3. The maximum score in each subscale is 21. A score ranging between 8-10 is considered a mild or possible case of anxiety and/or depression and a score ≥11 as a probable case of psychological distress (136). A score of 0-7 inclusive represents a non-case. HADS has been widely validated across a number of clinical specialities, including dentistry (139-141). HADS has been shown to be a reliable tool for assessing and screening for anxiety and depression in a non-psychiatric setting (137).

The Pain Catastrophising Scale (PCS) was developed in 1995 by Sullivan *et al.* (142). Catastrophising was defined in 2001 by Sullivan as ' an exaggerated negative mental set brought to bear during actual or anticipated painful experiences' (143). Catastrophising is seen as multidimensional, comprising of rumination, magnification and a feeling of helplessness. Catastrophisers were described as people who had a tendency to magnify or exaggerate the value of a pain (144). Sullivan designed and developed his scale using concepts from previous studies on catastrophising (144-146). The questionnaire consists of 13 statements describing the thoughts and feelings one may experience while in pain. The statements are broken down into three subscales; Rumination, Magnification and Helplessness. Each statement allows the patient to reflect on a time when they have experienced pain and how they reacted to the pain at that time. Each item is scored on a five-point scale with end points (0) not at all and (4) all the time. The PCS has a maximum possible score of 52. The likelihood of catastrophising increases with an increasing score. Those scoring >30 are identified as clinically relevant. This information allows us to interpret the reported pain scores with greater sensitivity. This scale has been validated as being a significant predictor of physical and emotional distress expressed by an individual when experiencing pain (142). Other studies prior to the development of this tool have also shown a relationship between patient distress and catastrophising and the amount of pain expressed or tolerated (147-149). This scale is important to aid clinicians in interpreting self-reported pain measures with greater sensitivity.

Dental phobia is one of the most common fears and phobias reported (150). Women are found to be more likely to report a dental fear or phobia than men (151, 152). Dental fear has previously been described as a conditioned reaction to a previous experience or traumatic event; however it is thought that it may have links

40

to patient anxiety disorders (153-155). Patients with high dental anxiety are found to report greater pain at recall following procedures such as tooth extraction (156), again highlighting the importance of getting baseline anxiety and catastrophising scores for studies where self-reported pain is a primary outcome.

2.5 Summary of Literature Review

Third molars erupt between the age of 17 and 24 years, with variation seen due to race and ethnicity. Mandibular third molars are the most commonly impacted tooth in the arch (48). Surgical removal of third molars is the most commonly performed oral surgery procedure. Due to changing guidance there has been a shift in age profile of the patients undergoing third molar removal in the United Kingdom, from patients in their early twenties in 1989, to patients in their mid-thirties in 2008 (1). This shift in patient age profile could have a potential economic impact due to a greater number of patients being in full-time employment rather than education. Various techniques are recognised for surgical removal of third molars. Buccal bone removal with external irrigation is the most common method today.

There is significant short-term morbidity associated with the removal of impacted third molars. Both pain and the impact on oral function such as eating or speaking has been found to delay a return to work for patients with studies reporting absence from work of up to 26 days following removal. Following surgical trauma, pain and inflammatory mediators are released at the surgical site. For oral surgery procedures, onset of pain is generally 4-6 hours following the procedure when the local anaesthetic has worn off. Interventions should be taken to minimise the postoperative pain experienced by the patient. The benefit of a multimodal approach to post-operative can be seen when pain and inflammatory mediators are targeted. Surveys have consistently shown that post-operative pain is not adequately treated (95, 96). Dexamethasone is a corticosteroid with mainly glucocorticoid action. Once bound to the receptor, dexamethasone initiates a chain of events resulting in the suppression of inflammatory mediators. The optimum steroid used should reduce local inflammatory reactions but have little systemic effect. Dexamethasone fits this criterion as it has negligible mineralocorticoid activity yet a great biologic effect.

Patient-reported outcome and experience measures can help quantify the subjective feeling and views of the patient regarding various outcomes such as pain and satisfaction. The visual analogue scale (VAS) is a one-dimensional scale to measure pain intensity at a given time point. Descriptive questionnaires, such as the Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire can provide a second dimension to the pain experienced. Some correlation has been shown linking patient gender, personality type, and anxiety levels with the degree of pain reported.

2.6 Knowledge Gaps and Study Aims

Although there is a body of low-quality evidence to suggest submucosal dexamethasone may reduce post-operative pain in the short term there is a lack of high quality, randomised controlled trials. Following a review of the literature we decided to carry out a prospective, double-blind, split-mouth, randomised controlled trial investigating the effect of a submucosal injection of 4mg dexamethasone on post-operative pain following third molar surgery. Secondary outcomes of patient preference of treatment modality and interference with speech or diet were also assessed.

In our study we hypothesise a submucosal injection of dexamethasone will reduce the pain experienced by the patient and decrease the impact on quality of life for the patient following third molar surgery. Our unique angle is assessing the response to submucosal administration of 4mg dexamethasone as a submucosal injection versus a control of no injection, in a patient requiring surgical removal of bilateral, symmetrically impacted wisdom teeth, at the same visit. To the best of our knowledge this methodology has not been previously carried out. As the patient is acting as their own control, confounding factors (age, bone density, race, smoking status) are limited greatly. The patient is blinded to the intervention site minimising any reporting bias. Furthermore, the patient is having both lower third molars removed at the same appointment allowing for a real-time comparison of pain experienced and, eliminating cross-over bias. Treatment is carried out under general anaesthetic, which has the benefit of ensuring the patient is blinded to the intervention site.

2.7 Hypothesis

 H_0 : There is no difference in post-operative pain following surgical removal of lower third molars when a submucosal injection of 4mg dexamethasone is administered in the buccal vestibule pre-operatively.

 H_1 : There is a difference in post-operative pain following surgical removal of lower third molars when a submucosal injection of 4mg dexamethasone is administered in the buccal vestibule pre-operatively.

H₀: There is no difference in patient preference following treatment when 4mg dexamethasone is administered as a submucosal injection pre-operatively compared to no dexamethasone injection during the surgical removal of mandibular third molars.

 H_1 : There is a difference in patient preference following treatment when 4mg dexamethasone is administered as a submucosal injection pre-operatively compared to no dexamethasone injection during the surgical removal of mandibular third molars.

2.8 Aims and objectives

Study aim: To confirm the reduction in post-operative pain experienced by the patient and to reduce any impact on quality of life experienced by the patient via the administration of a submucosal injection of dexamethasone at the surgical site.

Objectives

- To determine if a single dose submucosal injection of dexamethasone local to the surgical site has an effect on the period of acute post-operative pain in comparison to local anaesthetic alone.
- To assess the patients' quality of life in the days following surgical removal of lower third molars, local anaesthetic alone versus local anaesthetic plus submucosal dexamethasone
- To determine patients' post-operative preference and satisfaction with regard to a submucosal injection of dexamethasone versus local anaesthetic alone during lower third molar extraction

Chapter 3: Materials and Methods

3.1 Ethical Approval and informed consent

Prior to commencement, ethical approval was sought and granted by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals (CREC), reference number; ECM4(b)18/06/19 (Appendix I). All volunteers provided written informed consent before participation (Appendix II).

3.2 Study Design

We designed a split-mouth, randomised controlled trial in which the volunteer received either the intervention or control at both the lower left and lower right mandibular quadrant. Treatment was carried out in one session, with the patient under general anaesthetic. Patients completed questionnaires both pre- and postoperatively. Data collection was continued daily for seven days following the procedure, with each participant required to complete daily pain questionnaires. We used a per-protocol analysis of the final data.

Figure 3.1 Flow Chart of Study Design and Follow-up



3.3 Sample Size

A sample size of 52 was calculated to have a power of 80% to detect a mean difference of 10mm between the treatment and control groups on the visual analogue scale (VAS), representing pain levels. An approximate standard deviation of 25 was used. This standard deviation was calculated based on the mean difference seen in a study of similar design and outcome measures (20).

3.4 Recruitment

Seventy participants requiring bilateral mandibular third molar removal under general anaesthetic were recruited from a treatment waiting list at Cork University Dental School and Hospital requiring bilateral mandibular third molar removal under general anaesthetic. All patients were assessed by a dentist or oral surgeon in Cork University Dental School and Hospital prior to placement on the treatment waiting list. Each patient had an orthopantomogram at the consultation prior to placement on the treatment waiting list. This radiograph was assessed by a single investigator (MC) prior to recruitment in order to ensure the inclusion criterion, of symmetrical impaction of the lower third molars, was met.

Inclusion criteria:

- Male and female >16 years
- ASA 1 or ASA2 (157)

 Radiographically symmetrically impacted mandibular third molars as classified by Winter's criteria requiring surgical removal

Exclusion criteria:

- Pregnant or lactating women
- Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatories within the 24 hours prior to surgery
- Pre-existing pain conditions
- Poorly-controlled systemic diseases or learning disability
- Patient refusal
- Allergy to dexamethasone

3.5 Randomisation

Each study participant would experience both the intervention and control due to the split-mouth study design. The site to receive the intervention was randomly selected. The Randomisation sequence was carried out independently by a statistician. For each surgeon (four surgeons), blocked randomisation was used to ensure that equal numbers of patients received the treatment on the lower left and right quadrants. Six blocks of size four and 2 blocks of size two in this order (AABB, ABAB, ABBA, BABA, BBAA BAAB, AB, BA) were set. Blocks of size 2 were used to aid concealment of the randomisation scheme. The 8 blocks were randomised using a uniform random number generator in STATA with values between 0 and 1 (158). The first 8 random numbers were placed in order beside the 8 blocks and the two columns were then sorted from highest to lowest according to the random number. The letters defined the assignment of the treatment as follows: A= Dexamethasone Injection Site: Lower Right (Quadrant 4)

B= Dexamethasone Injection Site Lower Left (Quadrant 3)

The first 18 Letters were used for the random assignment of treatment site for Surgeon A. The randomisation method was then repeated for the three other surgeons. Surgeon number, patient study number and the intervention site were printed on individual labels and placed on post-cards inside a sealed envelope. The outside of the envelope had the surgeon code and patient study number. An example of the post-card contained inside the opaque envelope is shown in Figure 3.2.

Figure 3.2 Sample Randomisation post-card once removed from the sealed opaque envelope



The researcher (MC) was blinded to the treatment site until statistical analysis was completed. Each case was numbered sequentially as they were recruited. For each case the randomly selected site for intervention was given to the surgeon in an identical, sealed, non-transparent envelope as described immediately prior to the surgery. The investigator was not involved in the surgery in order to maintain impartiality. The patient was under general anaesthetic for the procedure and remained blinded to the site that received the intervention of interest, submucosal dexamethasone.

3.6 Operative Intervention

All patients received perioperative analgesics. Either oral pre-operative analgesics or intra-operative intravenous analgesics were used depending on the date of treatment. Due to a change in admission facilities resulting from Cork University Hospital's response to Covid-19, our dental theatre staff were no longer able to safely administer oral pre-medications to patients. This was due to a reduced capacity admissions and recovery area for the patients and as such made privacy and supervision of pre-operative patients challenging for the nursing staff. As there was insufficient space to administer medication and supervise the patient we had to adjust our pre-medication protocol. As a consequence, study participants recruited after April 2020 received intravenous analgesics intra-operatively as opposed to oral analgesics pre-operatively. Pre-operative oral analgesia consisted of paracetamol, ibuprofen and oxycodone. For those recruited after April 2020, intravenous paracetamol and diclofenac were administered intra-operatively.

The patient was monitored non-invasively with electrocardiography, pulse oximetry and blood pressure monitoring prior to induction of anaesthesia. Each patient received a standardised general anaesthetic provided by a consultant anaesthetist. Anaesthesia was induced with intravenous propofol and maintained with a sevoflurane in oxygen mixture. Following pre-oxygenation, the patient was intubated with a nasoendotracheal tube of appropriate size. Intra-operative anaesthetic and vital sign monitoring included heart rate and rhythm, anaesthetic

54

depth, oxygen saturation, end tidal carbon dioxide, blood pressure and sevoflurane in oxygen concentration.

Figure 3.3 A patient undergoes surgical removal of mandibular third molars under general anaesthetic



A standard surgical trolley was set up prior to all procedures. Using aseptic technique, 1ml of 4mg/ml dexamethasone was drawn up from a 2ml ampule into a labelled 5ml syringe by the investigator (MC) and placed on the trolley for the surgeon. Bilateral mandibular third molar removal was carried out by a single, experienced surgeon for each patient. Regional anaesthesia of an inferior alveolar nerve block and long buccal infiltration of 2% lidocaine with 1:80,000 epinephrine was administered to the lower right and left quadrant, immediately prior to incision. A 2.2ml cartridge was used for the inferior dental block followed by a further 2.2ml as a long buccal infiltration were delivered. The site randomised for the intervention

received a 1ml injection of 4mg dexamethasone, via a 22-gauge needle, in the buccal vestibule adjacent to the lower third molar following administration of local anaesthetic.

All cases involved raising a full-thickness mucoperiosteal flap. Buccal bone removal and sectioning of the tooth was carried out as required using a surgical bur and copious irrigation. In suitable cases the tooth was sectioned using a hammer and osteotome, negating the requirement for buccal bone removal. The tooth was delivered from the socket using a Coupland's elevator. Each socket was irrigated with normal saline and the flap replaced using 4.0 Vicryl absorbable sutures. Duration of surgery, from incision to final suture placement, was recorded individually for the right and left mandibular third molar removal by the investigator (MC), who was in a room adjacent to the theatre.

3.7 Pre-operative data collection

Patient demographics including age, gender, smoking status, and contact details were recorded following informed consent to study participation. A number of baseline questionnaires were completed by the patient under the supervision of the investigator (MC). Facilitated by MC, the Pain Catastrophising Scale, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale and the Oral Health Impact Profile-14 were completed preoperatively by each study participant.

3.8 Post-operative Data Collection

Immediately post-operatively the surgeon completed a standardised surgical questionnaire. Details of the surgery including state of tooth eruption, extraction technique employed, classification of impaction, along with assessment of difficulty were recorded. These details were recorded individually with respect to right and left surgical site.

3.8.1 Surgical Questionnaire

3.8.1.1 State of Eruption

The state of eruption and nature of impaction of the mandibular third molars involved in this study were assessed at two stages. Initially, in order to meet the inclusion criteria of this study, an orthopantomogram of potential study participants were assessed by a single investigator (MC) and if deemed to have symmetrically impacted lower third molars for removal, patients were offered recruitment in the study. This step was taken prior to enrolment to ensure the paired samples, for the intervention and control side, were closely matched and the subject met the inclusion criteria of the trial. A second assessment of the state of eruption and nature of impaction was reported and recorded by the operating surgeon immediately following surgery, using our surgical questionnaire (Appendix VII). Aided by this questionnaire the operating surgeon assessed and recorded the state of eruption, from unerupted to partially erupted or fully erupted as they identified intra-orally. Due to the required surgical element of the trial no fully erupted third molars met the inclusion criteria.

3.8.1.2 Classification of Impaction

The nature of the impacted third molars were classified accorded to Winter (53). This was recorded for each case by the operating surgeon with respect to the intervention and control side. To be eligible for enrolment in the study a single investigator (MC) had classified the impaction of the mandibular third molars from a radiograph deeming the right and left molar to be symmetrically impacted.

3.8.1.2 Surgical technique

Depending on the type and cause of the impaction (bone/soft tissue/adjacent tooth), differing surgical techniques may be employed to relieve the impaction, allowing for the removal of the tooth by elevation. The operating surgeon recorded the surgical technique employed in each case on the surgical questionnaire immediately following the procedure. As no tooth was fully erupted in the mouth, all cases involved surgery of some kind. All surgical techniques involved raising a full-thickness mucoperiosteal flap (FMPF).

3.8.1.3 Difficulty of Extraction

Immediately following surgery, the operating surgeon ranked the difficulty of the extraction. Although this is a subjective measure the ranking was requested to give further surgical information to any potential outlying pain scores. Three tick box options were given to the operating surgeon, routine, complex or highly complex.

<u>3.8.2 Pain Assessment</u>

Thirty minutes following extubation, two further questionnaires were completed by the patient assisted by the investigator (MC). These included Short form McGill Pain questionnaire and a pain diary.

3.8.3 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire

This questionnaire was used to investigate the multi-dimensional nature of pain, investigating the characteristics of the pain being reported by the participants in combination with a VAS and a Present Pain Intensity scale (PPI) (Appendix VIII). The SF McGill incorporates the overall intensity of the pain using the VAS and PPI scores, complimented by descriptive, sensory and affective subscales.

<u>3.8.4 Pain Diary</u>

Patients were required to complete a structured pain diary for seven days following surgery (Appendix IX). The pain diary contained quality of life and functional questions, a record of analgesic consumption and a Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) to assess pain experienced at the right and left surgical site independently. The VAS scale was 100mm in length, 0mm equating to no pain and 100mm equating to maximal possible pain.

3.9 Discharge Advice

Prior to discharge, the patient and their chaperone received standard post-operative instructions. A standard prescription and directions for use were given pertaining to post-operative analgesia. Post-operative analgesics consisting of paracetamol 1g six hourly and a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory, dexketoprofen 25mg eight hourly were prescribed. An opioid, oxycodone 5mg tablets 4-6 hourly as required, was also prescribed for breakthrough pain. No patients received a prescription for prophylactic antibiotics. Each patient was discharged with a questionnaire pack and a stamped addressed envelope for ease of return upon completion. The questionnaire pack comprised of a pain diary and Short form McGill Pain Questionnaire, each to be completed daily for seven days. On day 7 post-operatively two additional questionnaires were required; the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score and a Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale.

3.10 Follow-up

Each patient was contacted by telephone on post-operative day 4 and post-operative day 7 in order to check-in with the patient and to ensure return of the questionnaire pack following completion.

3.11 Patient Satisfaction

Patient-satisfaction is an important measurement in any patient-centred treatment. The Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale is a ten item scale, with three subscales of communication, understanding and competence developed by Corah *et al.* in 1985 (Appendix X) (159). Patient-satisfaction can be used as a measurement of treatment success. A patients expectation of a what is a good service can vary greatly, depending on patient age, gender, nature of the illness and their attitude towards to problem (160). The Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale is best suited to assessing outcomes from a single dental visit; it is a short and practical tool that is suitable for rapid completion following the visit. Patients are to respond to each of the ten satisfaction questions, which are presented in a five-point Likert style ranging from 'Strongly Disagree' to 'Strongly Agree'. We required study participants to complete this satisfaction scale on day-7 following treatment. As the treatment was carried out under general anaesthetic, question 8 ('The Dentist was too rough when he worked on me') was not directly applicable. Patients were asked to respond to each of the ten satisfaction guestions.

3.12 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with assistance of a biostatistician, Dr. Wiley Barton from Teagasc Moorepark, Fermoy, Co. Cork. All statistical analysis was conducted within the *R* statistical software environment (161) using version 4.0.1 and RStudio (v.1.3.959) (162) on Windows 10. Data was imported to *R* and assessed for normality using the *MVN* (v.5.8) package with the Mardia's multivariate normality test (163). Normality testing determined a non-normal distribution of the study's variables. Non-parametric tests were used accordingly. Wilcoxon signed rank and rank-sum tests were used to compare paired and unpaired variables, respectively. Spearman's correlation was used for the comparison of association between variables. All p-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Benjamini– Hochberg method with an adjusted p-value < 0.05 used to measure significance (164).

Regression analysis was implemented with *Im* from the base *stats* package and the Imer function from *Ime4* (v.1.1-23) (165). Linear mixed-effects model generation resulted from repeated *step-down* comparison of variable effects, resulting in a model with functional least complexity. A significant contribution of variables was determined with an ANOVA p-value < 0.05 and comparison of Akaike Information Criterion and Bayesian Information Criterion (AIC and BIC, respectively). The final model comparing treatment effect on reported VAS score included surgery time, eruption state, and pain diary day as fixed variables and volunteers as the random effect with pain diary day weights added. Graphical representations were

64

generated using the *ggplot2* (v.3.3.1) package (166). Regression model plots used fitted lines for un-weighted simple regression (SurgeryT vs. VAS/ Figure X), locally fitted loess regression (days vs. VAS), and mixed-effect linear regression with ribbons representing 95% confidence intervals and *line-points* representing raw mean and standard error.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Demographics

Seventy patients were enrolled in the study between October 2019 and October 2020. The age range of the participants was 16 to 54 years of age, with the mean age being 22 years (SD 5.7 years). The median age of our study population was 21 years. The study participants were comprised of 44 females and 26 males. The majority of the participants, 82.86%, were non-smokers. Table 4.1 demonstrates the clinical and demographic characteristics of the study population as a whole and as treated by each surgeon.

Number of participants	Surgeon 1 N = 18	Surgeon 2 N = 18	Surgeon 3 N = 17	Surgeon 4 N = 17	Total N = 70
Female n, (%)	11 (61.1%)	13 (72.2%)	9 (53%)	11 (64.7%)	44 (62.9%)
Age (years), mean (SD)	23.6 (3.95)	23.5 (8.48)	20.9 (3.91)	20.2 (4.88)	22.1 (5.73)
Non-smoker n, (%)	13 (72.2%)	15 (83.3%)	16 (94.1%)	14 (82.4%)	58 (82.9%)

Table 4.1 Demographics of study participants

Baseline patient characteristics

4.2 Recruitment and Attrition

Sixty-four of the seventy participants enrolled in the study completed and returned the pain diary questionnaire pack following the seven days and were included in the final analysis. Failure to return the pain diary was considered failure of study completion. This was the sole reason behind participant attrition (Figure 4.1).

Figure 4.1 Study recruitment and attrition per operating surgeon



4.3 Pre-operative assessment

4.3.1 Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

A single investigator (MC) was present to assist the study participants with completion of the HADS prior to surgery. Tables 4.2 and 4.3 show the distribution of study participants between the anxiety and depression subsets of the scale. The pre-operative HADS data from one participant was absent. In our study population the vast majority, 75% in the anxiety subgroup and 89% in the depression subgroup were deemed not to be a case of psychological distress. Conversely, almost 15% in the anxiety scale and 3% in the depression scale were classified as probable cases. The cases are generally spread evenly throughout the surgeon groups, with no single surgeon treating a majority of probable cases of patients experiencing undiagnosed psychological distress.

Table 4.2 Pre-operative HADS Anxiety

Participant characteristics					
	Category	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)	Percentage frequency (P = 100 × (F/N))	
HADS anxie	ty				
Surgeon 1	non-case borderline case	14 2 1	17	82.35% 11.76% 5.88%	
Surgeon 2	non-case borderline case	13 1 4	18	72.22% 5.56% 22.22%	
Surgeon 3	non-case borderline case	12 2 3	17	70.59% 11.76% 17.65%	
Surgeon 4	non-case borderline case	13 2 2	17	76.47% 11.76% 11.76%	
Total	non-case borderline case	52 7 10	69	75.36% 10.14% 14.49%	

Table 4.3 Pre-operative HADS Depression

Participant characteristics					
	Category	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)	Percentage frequency (P = 100 × (F/N))	
HADS depre	ession				
Surgeon 1	non-case borderline case	14 2 1	17	82.35% 11.76% 5.88%	
Surgeon 2	non-case — —	18	18	100% 	
Surgeon 3	non-case borderline case	14 2 1	17	82.35% 11.76% 5.88%	
Surgeon 4	non-case borderline —	16 1	17	94.12% 5.88% —	
Total	non-case borderline case	62 5 2	69	89.86% 7.25% 2.9%	

4.3.2 Pain Catastrophising Scale

Each study participant completed a Pain Catastrophising Scale (PCS) as part of our baseline pre-assessment protocol (Appendix V). Table 4.4 demonstrates the number of study participants who reached a clinically relevant score on completion of the PCS. The number of 'catastrophisers' is very low overall, with 4 cases identified. One participant's pre-operative questionnaire was incorrectly given to the patient at discharge, along with the seven-day pain diary, and unfortunately was not returned to us.

	Surgeon 1	Surgeon 2	Surgeon 3	Surgeon 4	Total
Number of participants	17	18	17	17	69
Clinically relevant score >30	1(5.9%)	0	1(5.9%)	2(11.8%)	4(5.8%)

4.3.3 Effect of pre-operative assessment scores on pain

Spearman's correlation was used to measure the association between the preoperative questionnaire scores and the pain scores reported on the visual analogue scale. There was no significant correlation found between the pre-operative Hospital Anxiety or Depression scores and reported pain. There was a moderate positive association found between the pain catastrophising scale and the pain reported on the visual analogue scale (R_s =0.369, P=0.017)
4.3.4 Oral Health Impact Profile

Each patient completed a shortened version of the Oral Health Impact Profile (OHIP-14) as a validated means of assessing the oral health-related quality of life experienced by our study population (Appendix VI). Table 4.5 shows the mean OHIP-14 score of our study population as a whole and according to each surgeon group. There are high levels of consistency seen throughout the surgeon groups.

Table 4.5 Patient characteristics OHIP-14

	Surgeon 1	Surgeon 2	Surgeon 3	Surgeon 4	Total
Number of participants	18	18	17	17	70
OHIP 14 Mean (SD)	20.12 (6.93)	20.33 (3.93)	19 (5.53)	18.94 (5.61)	19.61 (5.49)

4.4 Surgical Assessment

4.4.1 State of Eruption

Table 4.6 shows the frequency of distribution for the state of eruption of the mandibular third molar per treating surgeon group and total study population. Just two cases in total were assessed as not symmetrical in eruption, showing a high degree of agreement between the investigator and operating surgeons in their assessment of the teeth. One case of asymmetry was reported by Surgeon 1 and another single case by Surgeon 4. Almost half (45.7%) of the teeth removed during this clinical trial were found to be unerupted.

	Description	Treatment (Intervention/Control)	Frequency (F)	Total (N)
Current 1	Partially erupted	Untreated Treated	15 16	18 18
Surgeon 1	Unerupted	Untreated Treated	3 2	18 18
C D	Partially erupted	Untreated Treated	13 13	18 18
Surgeon 2	Unerupted	Untreated Treated	5 5	18 18
	Partially erupted	Untreated Treated	5 5	17 17
Surgeon 3	Unerupted	Untreated Treated	12 12	17 17
6 A	Partially erupted	Untreated Treated	4 5	17 17
Surgeon 4	Unerupted	Untreated Treated	13 12	17 17

Table 4.6 Frequency distribution for State of eruption of Mandibular Third Molar

	Description	Treatment (Intervention/Control)	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)
Tatal	Partially erupted	Untreated Treated	37 39	70 70
lotal	Unerupted	Untreated Treated	33 31	70 70

4.4.2 Classification of Impaction

Table 4.7 shows the classification of impaction of the mandibular third molars as reported by the operating surgeon in that case. The type of impaction is reported as symmetrical in 97% of paired samples. This shows high levels of agreement between operating surgeon and the investigator (MC). Surgeon 3 and Surgeon 4 each reported a single case as being of involving teeth of differing impaction class. Overall, a majority of the teeth removed in this clinical trial (55%) were classified as a mesio-angular impaction. Following from the mesio-angular cases, in decreasing order of frequency the cases involved in this trial included vertical impaction (21.4%), disto-angular impaction (15%) and less frequently horizontally impacted (8.57) third molars.

	Description	Treatment	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)	Percentage frequency (P = 100 × (F/N))
	Mosio angular	Untreated	9	18	50%
	Mesio-aliguiai	Treated	9	18	50%
		Untreated	4	18	22.22%
C 1	Disto-angular	Treated	4	18	22.22%
Surgeon I	Surgeon 1 Horizontal	Untreated	1	18	5.56%
		Treated	1	18	5.56%
		Untreated	4	18	22.22%
	Vertical	Treated	4	18	22.22%
		Untreated	6	18	33.33%
	Mesio-angular	Treated	6	18	33.33%
		Untreated	2	18	11.11%
Surgeon 2	Disto-angular	Treated	2	18	11.11%
		Untreated	2	18	11.11%
	Horizontal	Treated	2	18	11.11%

Table 4.7 Frequency Distribution for Winter Classification of Impaction

	Description	Treatment	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)	Percentage frequency (P = 100 × (F/N))
	Vertical	Untreated Treated	8 8	18 18	44.44% 44.44%
	Mesio-angular	Untreated Treated	11 12	17 17	64.71% 70.59%
Surgeon 3	Disto-angular	Untreated Treated	4 4	17 17	23.53% 23.53%
	Horizontal	Untreated Treated	2 1	17 17	11.76% 5.88%
	Mesio-angular	Untreated Treated	12 12	17 17	70.59% 70.59%
Current 4	Disto-angular	Untreated	1	17	5.88% —
Surgeon 4	Horizontal	Untreated Treated	1 2	17 17	5.88% 11.76%
	Vertical	Untreated Treated	3 3	17 17	17.65% 17.65%
	Mesio-angular	Untreated Treated	38 39	70 70	54.29% 55.71%
Tatal	Disto-angular	Untreated Treated	11 10	70 70	15.71% 14.29%
Total	Horizontal	Untreated Treated	6 6	70 70	8.57% 8.57%
	Vertical	Untreated Treated	15 15	70 70	21.43% 21.43%

4.4.3 Surgical technique

Of the 140 mandibular third molars removed, 24 molars elevated out following the raising of a FMPF, releasing the soft tissue impaction. Seven paired samples (14 teeth) were elevated out following the raising of a FMPF and subsequently sectioning the tooth using a hammer and osteotome. Thirteen of the 140 involved in the study required a FMPF, buccal bone removal with a rotary bur and irrigation coolant before the tooth was elevated out. Over 60% of cases (89 teeth) required the highest degree of surgical intervention to enable removal of the mandibular molar teeth, a FMPF, buccal bone removal with a rotary bur and irrigate combined with sectioning of the tooth itself before the elevation of the tooth in fragments from the socket. The surgical technique was identical in 95.7% of the cases involved in this clinical trial. Different surgical techniques were utilised for removal of third molars in three patients. Removal of these patients and reanalysis did not affect the direction of the primary outcome. Therefore, they have been included in the presented data block.

	Surgical technique	Control/ intervention site	Frequency (F)	Total (<i>N</i>)	Percentage frequency (P = 100 × (F/N))
Extraction	technique				
Surgeon 1	Bone removal + tooth division + elevation	Untreated Treated	11 11	18 18	61.11% 61.11%
Surgeon 1	Hammer and osteotome	Untreated Treated	7 7	18 18	38.89% 38.89%
Surgoon 2	Bone removal + tooth division + elevation	Untreated Treated	9 9	18 18	50% 50%
Surgeon z	Elevation only	Untreated Treated	9 9	18 18	50% 50%
	Bone removal + tooth division + elevation	Untreated Treated	12 12	17 17	70.59% 70.59%
Surgeon 3	Bone removal + elevation	Untreated Treated	2 4	17 17	11.76% 23.53%
	Elevation only	Untreated Treated	3 1	17 17	17.65% 5.88%
	Bone removal + tooth division + elevation	Untreated Treated	13 12	17 17	76.47% 70.59%
Surgeon 4	Bone removal + elevation	Untreated Treated	3 4	17 17	17.65% 23.53%
	Elevation only	Untreated Treated	1	17 17	5.88% 5.88%
	Bone removal + tooth division + elevation	Untreated Treated	45 44	70 70	64.29% 62.86%
Total	Bone removal + elevation	Untreated Treated	5 8	70 70	7.14% 11.43%
TOLAI	Elevation only	Untreated Treated	13 11	70 70	18.57% 15.71%
	Hammer and osteotome	Untreated Treated	7 7	70 70	10% 10%

Table 4.8 Frequency distribution of the Surgical removal technique employed

4.4.4 Difficulty of Extraction

We can see in Table 4.9 that no case was described by any surgeon as highly complex.

Of the cases treated, 77.8% were deemed to be routine surgical extractions.

	Description	Treatment quadrant	Frequency (F)	Total (N)
Difficulty of	extraction			
Surgeon 1	Routine	Right Left	15 15	18 18
Surgeon	Complex	Right Left	3 3	18 18
6	Routine	Right Left	11 11	18 18
Surgeon 2	Complex	Complex Right Left	7 7	18 18
	Routine	Right Left	13 13	17 17
Surgeon 3	Complex	Right Left	4 4	17 17
Surgeon 4	Routine	Right Left	15 16	17 17
Surgeon 4	Complex	Right Left	2 1	17 17
	Routine	Right Left	54 55	70 70
Total	Complex	Right Left	16 15	70 70

Table 4.9 Frequency distribution of Extraction Difficulty as Classified by the Operating Surgeon

4.4.5 Duration of surgery

Table 4.10 demonstrates the mean time in seconds for the surgical removal of the mandibular third molar. This was recorded separately for both the right and left side from incision to completion of final suture. There is some variability of surgery duration between surgeon groups. All surgeons had grossly similar caseloads of the various surgical techniques, raising the question does a decrease in surgery duration come with operator experience? There is consistency seen for the duration of surgery within the surgeon groups for the intervention and control providing consistency within the paired samples and the pain scores reported by the participants.

Variable (n)	Surgeon 1	Surgeon 2	Surgeon 3	Surgeon 4	Total
Participants	17	18	17	17	69
<i>Intervention side</i> Mean Time in seconds (SD)	328.65 (151.53)	436.94 (231.98)	726.24 (317.98)	572.24 (307.76)	514.87 (295.30)
<i>Control side</i> Mean time in seconds (SD)	317.35 (153.86)	394.67 (205.28)	695.00 (355.28)	536.53 (183.37)	484.57 (273.11)

Table 4.10 Mean	Surgerv Duration	for Intervention	and Control Site
		. jet 11. let tet tet tet tet tet tet tet tet tet	

4.4.6 Summary of Surgical Assessment

Figure 4.2 represents the data collected from the surgical questionnaire graphically (Appendix VII). There is a high degree of consistency in the type of impaction (97%), state of eruption (97%) and surgical technique employed (95.7%) for removal between the intervention and control side.

Figure 4.2 Histogram depicting Surgical Variables

Vertical



Surgery measures

4.5 Post-operative assessment

4.5.1 Pain Diary

Figure 4.3 graphically represents the findings from the structured pain diary. It can be seen in the graph that over 75% of participants reported experiencing some level of pain on post-operative day 2 - 5 inclusive. The diet of over 50% of the study population remained affected by surgery until day 7 following third molar removal.





4.5.2 Analgesic Consumption

Each patient received a standard prescription and post-operative analgesic management advice. Figure 4.4 outlines the proportion of participants requiring analgesic medications each day and the number of each medication consumed. From post-operative day 0 to day 4 inclusive, 100% of study participants consumed some form of analgesic medication: 2% of participants did not consume any analgesics from post-operative day 5, with 14% of participants not using analgesics by post-operative day 7. The proportion of participants requiring oxycodone as break through pain medication declined daily from post-operative day 3. The number of analgesics consumed declined as the week progressed.





4.5.3 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire

Figure 4.5 outlines the eleven sensory terms and four affective terms used to describe pain in the Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF McGill). Tender, throbbing, and aching are consistently the most commonly-used characteristic terms to describe the sensory pain experienced. Exhausting is the most prevalent descriptor of the affective nature of the pain.



Figure 4.5 Frequency Distribution of Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire

Pain intensity		
None		
Mild		
Moderate		
Severe		

The SF McGill also quantifies the overall present pain intensity experienced by the patient, using both a 100 mm visual analogue scale and a six-point Verbal Descriptor Scale (VDS), which has end points of 'None' to 'Excruciating'. Figure 4.6 represents the merged scores from the PPI and Visual analogue scale on each day post-op. The graph indicates the more severe descriptors on the VDS, 'Horrible' and 'Excruciating' are most commonly used on post-operative day 2 and 3.

Figure 4.6 Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire; Present pain intensity and Visual Analogue

Scale



4.5.4 Pain Assessment

The VAS pain data was tested for normality using a Chi Squared Q-Q plot (Figure 4.7) and found not to be normally distributed. As a result, the data was analysed using non-parametric tests.

Figure 4.7 Chi-Square Q-Q Plot with Data Following Non-Parametric Distribution



Chi-Square Q-Q Plot

Squared Mahalanobis Distance

4.5.6 Visual Analogue Scale

Each study participant recorded the pain present on the right and left side independently using a 100mm visual analogue scale. This was completed daily from post-operative day 0 to day 7 inclusive, following surgery. As the data was not normally distributed, Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used to analyse the paired data samples. Figure 4.8 illustrates each participant score reported for the intervention and control side. The mean pain score (full line) is marginally lower for the intervention (dexamethasone receiving) side. This was consistent across days 0 to 7 post-operatively; however, this difference did not reach statistical significance. The daily p-value ranged from P=0.07 to P=0.73, never reaching statistical significance.



Figure 4.8 Pain recorded on Visual Analogue Scale on Day 0 – Day 7 post-op.



Figure 4.9 Mean pain reported for intervention and control with 95% confidence intervals

Figure 4.9 illustrates the mean scores as reported on the visual analogue scale for the intervention and control site for seven days following treatment with the 95% confidence interval in shading. Although the graph demonstrates that pain scores in the dexamethasone-receiving sides were consistently lower than that in the control sides, the overlapping confidence intervals highlight that the difference in means between treatment and control is not significant. The whiskers represent the largest values less than or equal to 1.5x IQR, and the centre line represents the median.

4.5.7 The effect of surgery duration on pain reported

The data was analysed to see if there was an association between pain reported and the duration of the surgery for the intervention and control side. Figure 4.10 outlines the VAS score recorded for the intervention (dexamethasone receiving) and control site, alongside the duration of the surgical procedure. We can see there is a positive correlation between increasing surgical duration and pain reported on the VAS, however the overlapping confidence intervals indicate that it does not reach statistical significance.





4.5.8 Linear mixed effects modelling

The effect of the treatment (4mg submucosal injection of dexamethasone) was assessed with a mixed-effect linear regression model. The model used participants as the random effect, which was fit to the data following an iterative step-down procedure. The fixed effects included surgery time (seconds), tooth eruption state, and pain diary day. Tooth extraction technique, and impaction type were excluded from the model due to insignificant contributions to the fit (p > 0.05). Outliers in the data were treated by applying weights to the model according to pain diary day. The final model demonstrated that the reported pain scale (VAS 0-100mm) decreases moderately and significantly with the treatment (Estimate: -3.32, CI: -5.36 to -1.28, p < 0.01, Marginal R² = 0.229, Conditional R² = 0.526). It should be noted that although there is a consistent reduction in pain reported at the intervention site, this estimated reduction of pain is estimated to be -3.32 on the visual analogue scale which is a minimal change with doubtful clinical significance.

Table 4.11 Linear mixed-effects model

		value	
Predictors	Estimates	CI	p adjusted
(Intercept)	-21.32	-36.39 – -6.25	0.006
Treatment [drug]	-3.32	-5.36 – -1.28	0.002
Surgery time	4.93	2.26 – 7.60	<0.001
Eruption state	12.58	6.89 – 18.27	<0.001
Pain diary day [1]	22.84	18.35 – 27.34	<0.001
Pain diary day [2]	27.83	23.37 – 32.29	<0.001
Pain diary day [3]	29.76	25.23 – 34.29	<0.001
Pain diary day [4]	23.93	19.52 – 28.34	<0.001
Pain diary day [5]	19.07	14.81 – 23.33	<0.001
Pain diary day [6]	16.09	11.85 – 20.33	<0.001
Pain diary day [7]	10.08	5.96 – 14.20	<0.001
Random Effects			
σ^2	384.63		
τ _{00 site.ID}	240.89		
N site.ID	69		
Observations	1020		
Marginal R^2 / Conditional R^2	0.229 / 0.	526	

4.5.9 Patient Satisfaction

Figure 4.11 illustrates the findings reported in the Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale. 78.12% of participants strongly agreed they were 'satisfied with what the dentist did'. There was no unsatisfied patient following treatment and participation in the study. Over 75% of volunteers either strongly agreed or agreed they felt they knew what to expect in the weeks following surgery. The statement 'The Dentist was too rough when he worked on me' was not directly applicable to our study as the patient was under general anaesthetic while the procedure was being carried out and should have been excluded from the questionnaire. Nevertheless, regardless of the patient being under anaesthetic for the procedure 72% of volunteers strongly disagreed with the statement.

A free comment was left by 51% of respondents on post-operative day 7. Positive comments included expressions of thanks for the theatre staff involved in the patient journey. For example, 'All staff were very helpful and kind, provided excellent care'; 'As very nervous patient I felt at ease'; 'Very pleased with treatment: while I was in pain afterwards, this was expected and I felt the pain killers provided were very good'; 'Staff fantastic, I was really pleased.'

Negative comments were related to the duration of pain and the duration of the recovery period. For example, 'I wasn't aware there would be dead skin left, that was the worst part'; 'Still slight pain, I did not expect it to take so long to recover'. Other study participants left comments which condensed their thoughts on the recovery period or their current status on the road to full recovery. For example; 'No pain on

the left side of my mouth, right tender and slightly throbbing'; 'Right side more swollen and took longer to return to normal' and 'Currently no discomfort on left side, small darting pain lower right'.



Figure 4.11 Bar Chart Representing Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale Response

Strongly agree

4.5.10 Patient Preference

On post-operative day 7 patients were asked to indicate their preference of treated side (right or left). The graph below, figure 4.12 shows the distribution of preference indicated for the intervention (dexamethasone receiving) and control side. 11% of participants did not indicate a preferred side. Of those who recorded a preference (59 volunteers), a slight majority (54%) indicated a preference for the dexamethasone receiving side.



Figure 4.12 Bar Chart Indicating Patient Preference of Treatment Site

Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

5.1 Discussion

5.1.1 Study design

We conducted a randomised, controlled, split-mouth trial involving patients undergoing surgical removal of symmetrically impacted lower third molars. A splitmouth trial is a study design in which each participant receives two or more treatment interventions in separate areas of the mouth (167). To be considered a 'split-mouth' trial the treatment can be delivered to separate quadrants, such as in our study, or to separate surfaces of individual teeth or to different dental arches where suitable in other situations. This design concept was first introduced in 1968 by Ramfjord et al. while investigating treatments of periodontal pockets (168). To suitably undertake this study design, a number of scientific assumptions need to be met. Specifically, the disease should be uniformly distributed and the effect of the intervention being evaluated should be localized and not 'spill-over' its effects to the comparison site (167). To address these scientific assumptions, our inclusion criteria restricted participants to those with symmetrically impacted mandibular third molars. Furthermore, our intervention under investigation, 4mg of dexamethasone was to be administered as a submucosal injection local to the surgical site. The submucosal nature of the injection retains the medication, localized in the soft tissues surrounding the surgical site, as opposed to a topical or systemic administration of the drug which could disperse around the oral cavity, affecting the control side. For split-mouth trials, randomisation is within the study site as opposed to within the study population. Each volunteer is to receive all intervention

modalities. In order to ensure equal number of participants received our intervention or control on the right or left side of the mouth respectively, we used blocked randomisation in combination with a random number generator to provide our sequence.

Each patient acts as their own control, providing paired samples, thereby greatly controlling background variation and limiting inter-individual variability, such as gender, age, race, smoking status, bone density, personality, dental anxiety, relationship with pain and analgesia. In the literature there is some criticism of split mouth trials surrounding a possible cross-over effect. The concern is that the participant would bring their experience of one procedure to the second procedure, creating an observer bias. This observer bias can be defined as an unconscious distortion of observations as a result of preconceived notions (169). Our study design addressed this potential limitation by having each participant undergo both the control and intervention during one single procedural appointment. In addition to this, all treatment is carried out while the patient is under general anaesthetic thereby ensuring participant blinding of the assigned intervention site.

The investigator, surgeons and participants were blinded to the randomisation sequence by having an independent statistician carrying out this task. The investigator (MC) was blinded to the assigned intervention site by not being present in theatre for the procedure. The randomisation site for each case was contained in an opaque envelope until directly given to the operating surgeon

immediately prior to the procedure, in order to further ensure concealment. These details were discarded following the procedure and the randomisation sequence was held confidentially with the statistician until all the data had been collected and input.

A strength of the split-mouth study design is that it can enhance the statistical power of a study. Due to the paired data samples, a split-mouth study can obtain a more powerful estimate of treatment effect with a smaller sample size. In today's society, where time and financial constraints are substantial, a well-designed splitmouth trial can allow the maximum amount of information be obtained from a trial and from each participant. A further advantage of this study design is that it allows determination of patient preference as each study participant has undergone both modalities.

Limitations of the study-design were minimised. A known limitation of splitmouth trials includes the restrictions on recruitment of participants due to the requirement of symmetrical disease patent. It could be challenged that due to the restriction of recruitment to those with symmetrically impacted mandibular third molars our team could have an effect on the external validity of the trial. As third molar impaction is almost commonplace across many different groups in society we do not see this as a disadvantage in our study (50, 51). In clinical trials where a pathologic process exists, for example caries rate or periodontitis is being investigated, a split-mouth design where participants are limited to those with caries

or severe periodontal disease in two or more quadrants may not have external validity as recruitment criteria is limited to those with high disease prevalence (170, 171).

Our clinical trial engaged four operating surgeons of varying degrees' experience to carry out the surgery. Each surgeon was experienced and registered on the Specialist Register of Oral Surgeons held by the Irish Dental Council for the duration of the trial. Having four surgeons of differing experience represents a strength of the study. A relatively large and varying pool of operators makes the trial outcomes valid and applicable to Specialist Oral Surgeons as a whole community. This is in contrast to a trial which involves one highly experienced or skilled surgeon, in which the findings may lack external validity. The fact that study participants were recruited from the Cork University Dental School, and represent a cohort who had been referred by another dental professional, either their general dentist or orthodontist, somewhat limits the applicability of the results to oral surgeons as opposed to general dentists undertaking third molar removal in community practice.

We based our sample size and power calculation on a study of similar design with the same primary outcome measure (20). Allowing for a potential noncompletion rate of 25% a study population of 70 was recruited. Due to the paired samples and reduced variability a sample population of this relatively low size was suitable. An alternative approach to estimating the standard deviation is that was could have run an internal pilot study to calculate a more accurate standard deviation

and required sample size, however due to time and financial constraints along with lack of direct access to an independent statistician this option was not feasible.

Our study was designed to detect a difference in mean VAS score between treatment groups of 10 mm. There is no consensus available as to what mean change in VAS constitutes a clinically meaningful difference for patients undergoing third molar removal (172). One Dutch study investigated what would be a clinically relevant change in VAS following third molar removal; however the study is of lowquality (172). The volunteers were recruited from a population who were already participating in one of three different third molar removal studies. Each participant was undergoing removal of one third molar, however the three trials were incorporating different removal techniques. Furthermore, the state of eruption, classification of impaction or the presence of pathology was not disclosed in this trial, all surgical factors which could have a direct impact on the post-operative pain score reported by the patient. In this Dutch study data was collected with respect to a 100mm VAS three times daily on days 1 -7 inclusive following removal. A Global Perceived Effect scale was completed on day 2 and day 7 following surgery asking participants to provide evaluation of their recovery on a seven-point scale. This trial reported a relative pain reduction of 50% on the VAS or an actual pain reduction of 25mm on the VAS as a meaningful reduction. The GPE scale asks patients to rate on a numerical scale how much their pain has improved or deteriorated over a period of time (173). It is questionable whether this is an appropriate tool for comparing pain following third molar removal. This tool is designed to compare a base-line pain

and comparison with pain scores reported following an intervention. Often those having their third molars removed have no pain immediately pre-operatively and there is significant pain which gradually decreases following surgery. Other tools such as the Minimal Importance Difference (MID) are used in conjunction with the VAS, but again these tools are designed to investigate the change in chronic pain rather than acute surgical pain (174). Prior to commencing further clinical trials investigating pain as a primary outcome measure it would be worth calculating what is a clinically significant reduction in pain for this cohort. We estimated a reduction of 10mm on the visual analogue scale as clinically meaningful. However, a difference of 20mm or greater may provide more impactful findings. It is our opinion that a difference of less than 10mm on the VAS or a change of less than ten percent on any pain reporting tool is unlikely to have a clinically meaningful difference for the patient population.

Our primary method of data collection was via questionnaires. We created a booklet format, incorporating the Pain Diary, Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire and Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale to ensure ease of completion for the participants in the week following surgery. A booklet format also gives a professional appearance to the questionnaires (175). All questionnaires used simple language, free from medical jargon to allow for varying cognitive ability amongst the participant population. We aimed to keep the number of questionnaires used throughout the study to a minimum to increase responder compliance. Each study participant was given a stamped addressed envelope to encourage return of the questionnaire booklet on completion of the data collection period. Previous studies have found this can increase response rate (176).

Structured pain diaries are commonly used as a tool in clinical practice across a range of specialities to track a patient's symptoms. Human recall of past events has its limitations, even more so when trying to recall previous symptoms while sitting in a clinician's surgery. Pain diaries are a clinician's solution toward capturing accurate data from patients reporting in real-time rather than relying on recall at a review or follow-up appointment (177, 178). However, it has been shown that pain dairies actually increase patient perception of symptom severity (179). In a study investigating patients' recovery following acute lumbar back pain in which two groups of patients were followed, one group were required to complete a pain diary, the other were not. Commencing the study both groups had similar recall of symptoms, however following completion of a pain diary that group had symptom amplification at subsequent follow-up (179). Another study by the same group found that the use of a pain diary actually slowed the recovery in patients' suffering from whiplash injury (180). Pain diaries can act as an aid to facilitate communication between the patient and clinician. In this clinical trial, a pain diary was used to capture the pain intensity at two different sites in the same patient. Any amplification of symptoms, for example due to pre-existing pain catastrophising tendencies, would be mirrored for both the right and left surgical sites. As our outcome measurement was a difference between two sites in a paired sample, rather than an overall pain score, any symptom amplification should be reflected in pain scores at both surgical sites. For this purpose of recording a difference in pain over two sites within on patient, the pain diary is a suitable and appropriate tool to allow real-time reporting of experience by the patient.

5.1.2 Study Population Characteristics

Seventy patients were enrolled in the study. The age range of the participants was 16 to 54 years of age, with the mean age being 22 years. This is in keeping with other studies involving third molar removal (16, 181). The age range in our study and others reflect the age when mandibular third molars erupt and have the potential to cause problems for the patient. Thirty-three of the seventy cases included in our study involved third molars that were classified by the surgeon as unerupted. In our department, patients listed to undergo orthognathic surgery routinely have unerupted mandibular third molars removed, if present, 6-12 months prior to the bilateral sagittal split osteotomy. This would account for the large proportion of study participants having unerupted, asymptomatic third molars removed.

Our inclusion criteria limited study participants to those that were fit and healthy, with only those classified as ASA1 or ASA2 included. Non-smokers accounted for 83% of participants. These restrictions on study subjects may make the findings less applicable to the general population. However, examining the data reported by the Central Statistics Office we see a prevalence of 17% of the population over 15 years of age are smokers. This data corresponds well with our study population (182). Forty-four of the 70 participants were female. Males and females have been shown to have differing pain thresholds and levels of pain tolerance (183). Females are known to be more likely to seek treatment for medical issues than their male counterparts and our study population is reflective of this (183). As we undertook a split-mouth study design, each patient reported on both the intervention and control site providing matched pairs of data. As we were looking for a difference in pain reported within each individual participant, the confounding factors that may have been present if we were comparing VAS scores between participants is removed. With this study design we did not require equal number of male and female participants.

Our study used validated tools in the form of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale and the Pain Catastrophising Scale in order to gather a baseline overview of the psychological variables of participants included in our study population (138, 184). Non-surgical factors have been shown to impact on the pain reportedly experienced by the patient (185). The paired samples investigated in a split-mouth study such as ours negates many of these non-surgical factors by design. With each participant reporting on both the intervention and control, combined with the analysis focusing on the difference between these paired samples the interparticipant variability has less impact on the final study outcomes. Nonetheless, these questionnaires may provide useful data beyond patient demographic details. Our volunteer cohort was found largely to be a non-anxious, non-distressed population. These questionnaire scores are helpful to have to investigate if they have impact on the pain reported on the visual analogue scale. Our post-hoc linear effects model found the results from the Pain Catastrophising Scale and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale did not have an impact on pain reported by the individuals in our study population. The level of potential anxiety, depression and catastrophising amongst our volunteers was relatively evenly distributed between the four operating surgeon groups. Treatment may be carried out under general anaesthetic for a number of reasons including some clinician-orientated factors such as the difficulty

of the procedure and some patient-orientated factors such as anxiety. Fear of the dentist is one of the most commonly reported fears (186). The reason for this anxiety is usually multi-factorial but can be contributed to by previous personal experience, experiences of family and friends or a more general anxiety trait of an individual (187). Within our study population we identified 25% of participants of being either a borderline or probable case of anxiety. This is not unexpected when dental fear is so common, estimated at 36% of the general population in the United Kingdom, combined with the surgical nature of third molar removal giving rise to greater anxiety or fear than something less daunting such as a dental check-up (188). Through the use of pre-operative questionnaires in our study population we identified a moderate positive association found between the scores reported in the Pain Catastrophising Scale and the pain reported on the Visual Analogue Scale. In the post-hoc linear effect model, the score derived from the Pain Catastrophising Scale did not affect the outcome in the step-down process so it was not included in the final model. We identified no significant correlation between the pre-operative Hospital Anxiety or Depression Scores and reported pain in our study population.

5.1.3 Surgical Assessment

There were almost equal numbers of patients requiring the removal of unerupted (46%) and partially erupted (54%) lower third molars within our study population. These cases were listed for the surgeons in order of placement on the general anaesthetic waiting list at Cork University Dental School. Surgeon 3 and Surgeon 4 had a greater proportion of unerupted third molar cases, with Surgeons 1 and 2 having a greater proportion of partially-erupted cases. As the speed of surgery, or patient outcomes of the surgeon as individuals, were not being investigated this is not seen as having an impact on our primary outcome measurement of pain. However, we did note a moderate association between the state of eruption of the impacted third molar and pain scores reported in each case. This association was supported by its influence on the post-hoc linear effects model (estimates 12.58, Cl 6.89 - 18.27, P <0.001).

All cases invited to participate and subsequently enrolled in the study were assessed radiographically by a single investigator (MC) and deemed to have symmetrically erupted and impacted mandibular third molars. Symmetry is a crucial aspect in our study-design in order to minimise any anatomical reason for different levels of pain to be experienced at either surgical site except for the intervention. Due to waiting times, there can sometimes be months between placement on a treatment waiting list and the treatment being undertaken. In some cases, the state of eruption at one site may have changed from what is observed on the radiograph. Pre-operatively a single investigator (MC) was able to assess easily if there was a difference in state of eruption intra-orally by simply looking in the patient's mouth. If one tooth was visible and the other not, the subject was no longer eligible for inclusion in the trial. The type of impaction is not as easily assessed in this way by the investigator prior to surgery, so there is greater reliance on the relevant radiograph. For example, in some cases radiographic assessment has identified symmetrical impaction and due to factors such as time, pathology, loss of adjacent teeth the classification may have progress and changed. Alternatively, when assessed from a

different perspective, such as intra-orally during removal, a tooth radiographically assessed as vertically impacted could now be classified as distoangular. This could be due to the positioning of the patient for the radiograph, the angulation of the x-ray beam or further growth of the patient or through assessor variability. There was excellent agreement observed between Surgeon 1, Surgeon 2 and the investigator with 100% of cases classified as symmetrically impacted. Surgeon 3 and Surgeon 4 each reported a single case involving asymmetrically impacted third molars for removal. These high levels of agreement between the operating surgeons and the investigator support the internal validity of the study with respect to the inclusion criterion.

A variety of surgical techniques was employed by each surgeon in the course of the trial. Technique used is determined by the type of impaction of the tooth in combination with operator preference. Surgeon 1 was the only operator to utilize the 'Hammer and Osteotome' as a technique. When previously compared to other techniques the hammer and osteotome was found to have a shorter healing period (78). Regardless of the technique employed it is operator experience that has been demonstrated to impact on patient-reported pain experienced in the recovery period (79, 80).

There have been many attempts at creating a valid tool for predicting the difficulty of the extraction such as Macgregor's 'WHARFE' assessment tool, Winter's lines, and the Pell and Gregory classification (53, 54, 189). These tools base their
estimate exclusively on radiographic variables. None have been found to be widely validated or accepted as an accurate predictor. Tools that rely completely on radiographic assessment do not take into consideration factors that may not be visible on the radiograph. Research published more recently suggests that difficulty cannot be predicted pre-operatively but only intra-operatively (190). Immediately following the procedure, the surgeon recorded if the removal was 'Routine', 'Complex' or 'Highly complex'. The choice of classification of difficulty was entirely at the discretion of the treating surgeon. The aim of recording this surgeon-reported outcome was to provide a possible explanation to any outliers in the pain score data; however, none of the four surgeons reported any of the 140 individual cases of third molar removal as 'Highly Complex'.

The use of patient-centred outcome measures in medicine and surgery has been substantially increasing over the past number of decades (191-193). Patientreported outcomes offer valuable information on the effects of an illness or intervention as perceived by the patient. There is a growing body of evidence reporting that oral disorders or conditions can have a significant impact on an individual's physical, mental and social well-being (194). The short version Oral Health Impact Profile has been shown to be a practical and valid tool in an oral surgery setting (195). In this trial, volunteers were asked to complete the OHIP-14 questionnaire pre-operatively in order to measure the impact the presence of third molars had on the patients' quality of life. The fourteen questions can be divided into seven subscales; including functional limitation, physical pain, physical disability and social disability. Patients are required rate each statement on a Likert-type scale and a summary or weighted score can be calculated. In our study many of the participants had never experienced pain with respect to their third molars, which is not typical of a cohort imminently undergoing removal. Almost half of participants (47%), were having the teeth removed in advance of orthognathic surgery. With this knowledge one might speculate that the OHIP scores from these participants would be significantly lower than those who were having their teeth removed due to pathology, however this was not found to be the case in our cohort. All study participants scored virtually the same summary score on the OHIP-14 questionnaire. Those individuals with unerupted, pathology and problem-free third molars, may have been undergoing extensive orthodontic intervention resulting in them scoring highly in the psychological and physical disability domains: 'Have you ever felt selfconscious about your teeth?'; 'Have you ever had to interrupt meals because of your teeth?' or 'Have you found it uncomfortable to eat any food because of problems with your teeth?' The instructions given to the study participants should have been more explicit regarding focusing on the impact of the third molars alone on oral health alone. A further limitation of the study is that the OHIP-14 questionnaire was only completed by participants on one occasion, pre-operatively. It may have added significant value if it had been repeated at a date post-operatively to establish if there had been an improvement in perceived oral health. It must be acknowledged that this questionnaire was originally intended to assess the long-term effects on oral health related quality of life and may not be the ideal tool for assessing the effects of acute surgical intervention.

109

5.1.4 Intervention

Due to its safety-profile, low-cost, half-life and potency, dexamethasone has been described as an ideal corticosteroid (196). In our study we investigated an intervention of 4mg dexamethasone delivered as a 1ml submucosal injection buccal to the surgical site. Other potential routes of administration include oral, intravenous, intramuscular and oral. We focused our trial on the submucosal route as we wanted to avoid any potential systemic side-effects associated with oral or intravenous corticosteroids. Furthermore, for oral surgeons or dental practitioners, administration as a submucosal injection would be considered a safe and easy route as they are comfortable with intra-oral injections. With a submucosal injection administered buccal to the surgical site, the surgeon can target the delivery of the corticosteroid to a specified location.

Our study is consistent with others that report there is a direct association between duration of surgery and post-operative pain reported (197). Our post-hoc analysis comparing the dexamethasone receiving intervention site versus the control found some evidence that submucosal dexamethasone had a greater beneficial effect on the surgeries of longer duration although this did not reach statistical significance (Figure 4.10). Furthermore, the reduction in pain reported is estimated at 4.93mm on the visual analogue scale with a 95% confidence interval range of 2.26– 7.60, which does not represent a clinically meaningful difference.

5.1.5 Post-operative complications

With respect to post-operative complications, a potential limitation of the study design is that the investigator did not review the patient and the surgical site in person following treatment. As such, we do not have an accurate or reliable measurement of the rate of post-operative complication such as dry socket or infection. Following the removal of third molars there is a wide ranging reported incidence dry-socket following treatment (198). Other more serious post-operative complications include temporary or permanent paraesthesia in the distribution of the inferior dental or lingual nerve (199). Indirectly, through our structured pain diary, we can estimate the incidence of complication using the question 'did you see a dentist for complications associated with your surgery today?'. Our pain diary records that a dentist was contacted on 13 occasions by our study population in the week following surgery. We are using this figure as a proxy to estimate a complication rate amongst our volunteers, however this is a flawed method of assessing complications. This figure presumes the assessing dentist confirmed a complication for each attending patient. Furthermore, the number calculated could account for the same patient returning to the dentist on multiple occasions. Ideally, each patient would have returned to the single investigator (MC) or a dedicated, suitably-qualified research assistant for review of any potential complications or post-operative concerns. Due to patient factors such as the distance required to travel and lack of funding for a research assistant this was not possible.

Through our Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale, we established that patients reported high levels of satisfaction following treatment. However, it must be noted

111

that we may have been able to improve on the psychological preparation of the patients. Approximately 20% of patients disagreed with the statement 'I have a good idea what to expect in the next few weeks'. Studies have demonstrated the importance of communication and explanation of the post-operative recovery period is associated with greater levels of patient satisfaction (200).

5.1.6 Patient Preference

On day 7 following surgery we asked the patients which treatment site they preferred. A very slight majority of respondents (33 patients) indicated preference towards the intervention side. The control side was preferred by 29 patients. Any intervention should have a benefit to the patient. The reasoning behind our study and the addition of a submucosal injection of dexamethasone to the protocol of surgical removal of impacted third molars is to reduce the pain experienced by the patient. This narrow margin of preference between the intervention and control sites indicates that the marginal difference in pain outcome was not clinically meaningful to the patient, further supporting the statistical comparisons of the VAS pain scores between intervention and control, where no sizeable difference in pain score was apparent.

5.1.7 Implications for practice

This study has shown a consistent, but very marginal reduction in pain reported at the dexamethasone-receiving site compared to the control site. Following regression analysis, the estimated mean reduction seen was -3.34mm on the 100mm visual

112

analogue scale. A reduction of this size does not indicate any meaningful clinical value. As a result, I would not change my current surgical protocol based on these results alone and would not advocate for the routine use of submucosal dexamethasone injections in the extraction of impacted third molars. In certain clinical scenarios, such as third molar surgery of long duration (15 minutes or greater), there is a greater reduction in pain reported at the intervention site by the patient and this may justify the intervention. We propose that each surgical site would be assessed independently by the treating clinician. Due to the drug administration close to the surgical site, low dosage of drug required for effect and low systemic absorption of the drug it is reasonable to recommend bilateral administration of submucosal dexamethasone if the clinical scenario required it. However, further research tasked specifically at answering this question is required before it can be recommended definitively.

5.2 Conclusion

Currently, due to the low quality research available, the medical literature reports mixed outcomes in the administration of submucosal dexamethasone for analgesic improvement in the extraction of impacted, third molar teeth. Our goal, through conduction of a randomised, double-blind, controlled trial using a split-mouth study design, was to determine whether there is patient benefit and greater analgesic effect when submucosal dexamethasone is administered prior to the extraction of impacted third molars. The null hypothesis states there is no difference in postoperative pain following surgical removal of lower third molars when a submucosal injection of 4mg dexamethasone is administered in the buccal vestibule preoperatively. Consistently across days 1 to 7 post-operatively, this trial demonstrated a minor improvement in analgesic effect when submucosal dexamethasone was administered in comparison to control, supporting the alternative hypothesis. However, it must be considered the effect size detected was minimal (estimated 3% improvement) and not clinically meaningful for patients. Therefore, the routine use of submucosal dexamethasone injection in the extraction of impacted third molars should not be recommended. Post-hoc analysis suggested that for prolonged duration of extraction (>15 minutes), a greater analgesic effect may be seen with submucosal dexamethasone treatment. However, further, targeted studies are required to investigate this.

The secondary aim of the trial was to determine patients' post-operative preference and satisfaction with regard to a submucosal injection of dexamethasone

114

versus local anaesthetic alone during lower third molar extraction. Each patient was asked to indicate their preferred side of treatment on day 7 post-op. Of those who responded only a narrow majority of 54% indicated preference for the intervention receiving side. The lack of concordance between the patients preferred side of treatment and the side receiving dexamethasone casts further doubt on the utility or benefit of this treatment for removal of impacted third molars.

References

1. Renton T, Al-Haboubi M, Pau A, Shepherd J, Gallagher JE. What has been the United Kingdom's experience with retention of third molars? Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2012;70(9):S48-S57.

2. Bui CH, Seldin EB, Dodson TB. Types, frequencies, and risk factors for complications after third molar extraction. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2003;61(12):1379-89.

3. Edwards MJ, Brickley MR, Goodey RD, Shepherd JP. The cost, effectiveness and cost effectiveness of removal and retention of asymptomatic, disease free third molars. British Dental Journal. 1999;187(7):380-4.

4. AmericanDentalAssociation. The 1990 survey of dental services rendered: American Dental Association; 1994.

5. Savin J, Ogden G. Third molar surgery—a preliminary report on aspects affecting quality of life in the early postoperative period. British journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 1997;35(4):246-53.

6. McGrath C, Comfort MB, Lo EC, Luo Y. Can third molar surgery improve quality of life? A 6-month cohort study. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2003;61(7):759-63.

7. WHO WHO. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. 10th Revision. . 2011;Volume 2.

8. Yuasa H, Sugiura M. Clinical postoperative findings after removal of impacted mandibular third molars: prediction of postoperative facial swelling and pain based on preoperative variables. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2004;42(3):209-14.

9. Grossi GB, Maiorana C, Garramone RA, Borgonovo A, Creminelli L, Santoro F. Assessing postoperative discomfort after third molar surgery: a prospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65(5):901-17.

10. Bouloux GF, Steed MB, Perciaccante VJ. Complications of third molar surgery. Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinics. 2007;19(1):117-28.

11. Janssen KJ, Kalkman CJ, Grobbee DE, Bonsel GJ, Moons KG, Vergouwe Y. The risk of severe postoperative pain: modification and validation of a clinical prediction rule. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2008;107(4):1330-9.

12. Coulthard P, Pleuvry B, Dobson M, Price M. Behavioural measurement of postoperative pain after oral surgery. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2000;38(2):127-31.

13. Svensson I, Sjöström B, Haljamäe H. Assessment of pain experiences after elective surgery. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2000;20(3):193-201.

14. Shugars DA, Benson K, White Jr RP, Simpson KN, Bader JD. Developing a measure of patient perceptions of short-term outcomes of third molar surgery. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 1996;54(12):1402-8.

15. Bienstock D. Work Days Missed Following Third Molar Surgery. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2012;70(9):e9.

16. Coulthard P, Bailey E, Esposito M, Furness S, Renton TF, Worthington HV. Surgical techniques for the removal of mandibular wisdom teeth. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2014(7).

17. Gopalraju P, Lalitha RM, Prasad K, Ranganath K. Comparative study of intravenous Tramadol versus Ketorolac for preventing postoperative pain after third molar surgery–A prospective randomized study. Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery. 2014;42(5):629-33.

18. O'Hare PE, Wilson BJ, Loga MG, Ariyawardana A. Effect of submucosal dexamethasone injections in the prevention of postoperative pain, trismus, and oedema associated with mandibular third molar surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2019;48(11):1456-69.

19. Murphy M. The effect of giving intra-operative local anaesthetic (lidocaine 2% with 1: 80 000 adrenaline) on post-operative pain in adolescents having day-case oral surgery to facilitate orthodontic treatment: A blinded, randomised controlled trial. Oral Surgery. 2011;4(4):171-8.

20. McCarthy C, Warren E, Sleeman D. Comparison of anaesthetic regime in patients undergoing third molar extraction. Oral Surgery. 2018;11(1):33-40.

21. Simone JL, Jorge WA, Horliana ACRT, Canaval TG, Tortamano IP. Comparative analysis of preemptive analgesic effect of dexamethasone and diclofenac following third molar surgery. Brazilian oral research. 2013;27(3):266-71.

22. Al-Dajani M. Can preoperative intramuscular single-dose dexamethasone improve patient-centered outcomes following third molar surgery? Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2017;75(8):1616-26.

23. Pappalardo S, Puzzo S, Cappello V, Mastrangelo F, Adamo G, Caraffa A, et al. The efficacy of four ways of administrating dexamethasone during surgical extraction of partially impacted lower third molars. European Journal of Inflammation. 2007;5(3):151-8.

24. Graziani F, D'aiuto F, Arduino PG, Tonelli M, Gabriele M. Perioperative dexamethasone reduces post-surgical sequelae of wisdom tooth removal. A split-mouth randomized double-masked clinical trial. International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2006;35(3):241-6.

25. Crowley MG, Catherine. Submucosal Dexamethasone for Third Molar Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Irish Division meeting, International Association for Dental Research; Virtual2021.

26. Kalia V, Siddiqui N, Kalra G. Comparative Analysis of Radiosurgery and Scalpel Blade Surgery in Impacted Mandibular Third Molar Incisions: a Clinical Trial. Journal of Maxillofacial and Oral Surgery. 2018;17(4):458-65.

27. Laureano Filho JR, e SILVA EDdO, CAMARGO IB, GOUVEIA FM. The influence of cryotherapy on reduction of swelling, pain and trismus after third-molar extraction: a preliminary study. The Journal of the American Dental Association. 2005;136(6):774-8.

28. Buyukkurt MC, Gungormus M, Kaya O. The effect of a single dose prednisolone with and without diclofenac on pain, trismus, and swelling after removal of mandibular third molars. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2006;64(12):1761-6.

29. Montgomery MT, Hogg JP, Roberts DL, Redding SW. The use of glucocorticosteroids to lessen the inflammatory sequelae following third molar surgery. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 1990;48(2):179-87.

30. O'Hare PE, Wilson BJ, Loga MG, Ariyawardana A. Effect of submucosal dexamethasone injections in the prevention of postoperative pain, trismus, and oedema associated with mandibular third molar surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2019;48(11):1456-69.

31. Moraschini V, Hidalgo R. Effect of submucosal injection of dexamethasone after third molar surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2016;45(2):232-40.

32. A. R. The age of eruption of the third molar teeth. A clinical study based on Finnish university students. Acta Odontol Scand. 1967(25):1–86.

33. Liversidge HM. Timing of human mandibular third molar formation. Annals of human biology. 2008;35(3):294-321.

34. Li G, Ren J, Zhao S, Liu Y, Li N, Wu W, et al. Dental age estimation from the developmental stage of the third molars in western Chinese population. Forensic science international. 2012;219(1-3):158-64.

35. Demirjian A, Goldstein H, Tanner JM. A new system of dental age assessment. Human biology. 1973:211-27. 36. Ramaswami TB, da Rosa GC, Fernandes MM, de Oliveira RN, Tinoco RLR. Third molar development by Demirjian's stages and age estimation among Brazilians. Forensic Imaging. 2020;20:200353.

37. Lee S-H, Lee J-Y, Park H-K, Kim Y-K. Development of third molars in Korean juveniles and adolescents. Forensic science international. 2009;188(1-3):107-11.

38. Orhan K, Ozer L, Orhan A, Dogan S, Paksoy C. Radiographic evaluation of third molar development in relation to chronological age among Turkish children and youth. Forensic science international. 2007;165(1):46-51.

39. Olze A, Van Niekerk P, Schmidt S, Wernecke K-D, Rösing F, Geserick G, et al. Studies on the progress of third-molar mineralisation in a Black African population. Homo. 2006;57(3):209-17.

40. de Oliveira FT, Capelozza ALÁ, Lauris JRP, de Bullen IRFR. Mineralization of mandibular third molars can estimate chronological age—Brazilian indices. Forensic science international. 2012;219(1-3):147-50.

41. Zeng DL, Wu ZL, Cui MY. Chronological age estimation of third molar mineralization of Han in southern China. International journal of legal medicine. 2010;124(2):119-23.

42. Meinl A, Tangl S, Huber C, Maurer B, Watzek G. The chronology of third molar mineralization in the Austrian population—a contribution to forensic age estimation. Forensic science international. 2007;169(2-3):161-7.

43. Fanning EA. Effect of extraction of deciduous molars on the formation and eruption of their successors. The angle orthodontist. 1962;32(1):44-53.

44. Vastardis H. The genetics of human tooth agenesis: new discoveries for understanding dental anomalies. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2000;117(6):650-6.

45. De Castro JMB. Third molar agenesis in human prehistoric populations of the Canary Islands. American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 1989;79(2):207-15.

46. Kajii TS, Sato Y, Kajii S, Sugawara Y, Iida J. Agenesis of third molar germs depends on sagittal maxillary jaw dimensions in orthodontic patients in Japan. The Angle Orthodontist. 2004;74(3):337-42.

47. Carter K, Worthington S. Morphologic and demographic predictors of third molar agenesis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of dental research. 2015;94(7):886-94.

48. Lima CJ, Silva LC, Melo MR, Santos JA, Santos TS. Evaluation of the agreement by examiners according to classifications of third molars. Medicina oral, patologia oral y cirugia bucal. 2012;17(2):e281.

49. TheFacultyofDentalSurgery. Current Clinical Practice and Parameters of Care: The Management of Patients with Third Molar (syn: Wisdom) Teeth. Royal College of Surgeons England1997 [Available from: <u>https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/-</u>

/media/files/rcs/fds/publications/3rdmolar.pdf.

50. Matsuyama J, Kinoshita-Kawano S, Hayashi-Sakai S, Mitomi T, Sano-Asahito T. Severe impaction of the primary mandibular second molar accompanied by displacement of the permanent second premolar. Case reports in dentistry. 2015;2015.

51. Dachi SF, Howell FV. A survey of 3,874 routine full-mouth radiographs: II. A study of impacted teeth. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology. 1961;14(10):1165-9.

52. Durbeck WE. The impacted lower third molar: Dental Items of Interest Publishing Company; 1945.

53. Winter GB. Principles of exodontia as applied to the impacted mandibular third molar: a complete treatise on the operative technic with clinical diagnoses and radiographic interpretations: American medical book company; 1926.

54. Pell GJ GG. Impacted mandibular third molars: Classification and Impacted third molars: Classification and modified technique for removal. Dental Digest. 1933;39:330-8.

55. García AGa, Sampedro FG, Rey JG, Vila PG, Martin MS. Pell-Gregory classification is unreliable as a predictor of difficulty in extracting impacted lower third molars. British journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2000;38(6):585-7.

56. Almendros-Marqués N, Berini-Aytés L, Gay-Escoda C. Evaluation of intraexaminer and interexaminer agreement on classifying lower third molars according to the systems of Pell and Gregory and of Winter. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2008;66(5):893-9.

57. Pederson G. Oral Surgery. WB Saunders, editor. Philadelphia1988.

58. Akadiri OA, Obiechina AE. Assessment of difficulty in third molar surgery—a systematic review. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2009;67(4):771-4.

59. Gbotolorun OM, Arotiba GT, Ladeinde AL. Assessment of factors associated with surgical difficulty in impacted mandibular third molar extraction. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2007;65(10):1977-83.

60. Conrad SM, Blakey GH, Shugars DA, Marciani RD, Phillips C, White Jr RP. Patients' perception of recovery after third molar surgery. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 1999;57(11):1288-94.

61. Morant H. NICE issues guidelines on wisdom teeth. BMJ: British Medical Journal. 2000;320(7239):890.

62. NICE. Guidance on the Extraction of Wisdom Teeth. 2000 [Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta1.

63. SIGN. Management of unerupted and impacted third molar teeth. A National clinical guideline On-line2000 [Available from:

https://www.scottishdental.org/library/management-of-unerupted-and-impacted-thirdmolar-teeth.

64. Brokaw W. The third molar question: when and why should we recommend removal? Virginia dental journal. 1991;68(4):18.

Tate T. Impactions: observe or treat? West Virginia dental journal. 1994;68(4):19-23.

66. Huang GJ, Cunha-Cruz J, Rothen M, Spiekerman C, Drangsholt M, Anderson L, et al. A prospective study of clinical outcomes related to third molar removal or retention. American journal of public health. 2014;104(4):728-34.

67. McArdle LW, McDonald F, Jones J. Distal cervical caries in the mandibular second molar: an indication for the prophylactic removal of third molar teeth? Update. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2014;52(2):185-9.

68. Sheldon TA, Cullum N, Dawson D, Lankshear A, Lowson K, Watt I, et al. What's the evidence that NICE guidance has been implemented? Results from a national evaluation using time series analysis, audit of patients' notes, and interviews. Bmj. 2004;329(7473):999.

69. Faculty of Dental Surgery R. Parameters of care for patients undergoing mandibular third molar surgery

Royal College of Surgeons England. 2020.

70. AAOMS. White Paper: Management of third Molar teeth. 2016 [Available from: http://www.aaoms.org/docs/govt_affairs/advocacy_white_papers/management_third_mo_lar_white_paper.pdf.

71. Ward T. The split bone technique for removal of lower third molors. Br Dent J. 1956;101:297-304.

72. Singh V, Singh N, Alex K, Mohammad S, Pradhan R. Techniques in the removal of impacted mandibular third molar: A comparative study. European Journal of General Dentistry. 2013;2(1).

73. Sortino F, Pedulla E, Masoli V. The piezoelectric and rotatory osteotomy technique in impacted third molar surgery: comparison of postoperative recovery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;66(12):2444-8.

74. Vercellotti T, Nevins ML, Kim DM, Nevins M, Wada K, Schenk RK, et al. Osseous response following resective therapy with piezosurgery. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2005;25(6).

75. Campbell JH, Murray RA. Handpiece speed and postoperative outcomes in third molar surgery. J Indiana Dent Assoc. 2004;83(1):4-6.

76. Benediktsdottir IS, Wenzel A, Petersen JK, Hintze H. Mandibular third molar removal: risk indicators for extended operation time, postoperative pain, and complications. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2004;97(4):438-46.

77. Srivastava P, Shetty P, Shetty S. Comparison of surgical outcome after impacted third molar surgery using piezotome and a conventional rotary handpiece. Contemporary clinical dentistry. 2018;9(Suppl 2):S318.

78. Horton JE, Tarpley Jr TM, Wood LD. The healing of surgical defects in alveolar bone produced with ultrasonic instrumentation, chisel, and rotary bur. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology. 1975;39(4):536-46.

79. Capuzzi P, Montebugnoli L, Vaccaro MA. Extraction of impacted third molars: a longitudinal prospective study on factors that affect postoperative recovery. Oral surgery, oral medicine, oral pathology. 1994;77(4):341-3.

80. Handelman SL, Black PM, Desjardins P, Gatlin L, Simmons L. Removal of impacted third molars by oral/maxillofacial surgery and general dentistry residents. Special Care in Dentistry. 1993;13(3):122-6.

81. Berge TI. Inability to work after surgical removal of mandibular third molars. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica. 1997;55(1):64-9.

82. Ogden G, Bissias E, Ruta D, Ogston S. Quality of life following third molar removal: a patient versus professional perspective. British dental journal. 1998;185(8):407.

83. Lopes V MR, Feinmann C, Harris M. Third molar surgery: an audit of the indications for surgery,

post-operative complaints and patient satisfaction. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 1995

33((1)

)::33-5.

84. McArdle LW, Patel N, Jones J, McDonald F. The mesially impacted mandibular third molar: The incidence and consequences of distal cervical caries in the mandibular second molar. The Surgeon. 2018;16(2):67-73.

85. Bienstock DA, Dodson TB, Perrott DH, Chuang S-K. Prognostic factors affecting the duration of disability after third molar removal. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2011;69(5):1272-7.

86. Liedholm R, Knutsson K, Norlund A. Economic aspects of mandibular third molar surgery. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica. 2010;68(1):43-8.

87. Keogh E, Herdenfeldt M. Gender, coping and the perception of pain. Pain. 2002;97(3):195-201.

88. Robinson ME, Gagnon CM, Dannecker EA, Brown JL, Jump RL, Price DD. Sex differences in common pain events: expectations and anchors. The Journal of Pain. 2003;4(1):40-5.

89. Colorado-Bonnin M, Valmaseda-Castellon E, Berini-Aytes L, Gay-Escoda C. Quality of life following lower third molar removal. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35(4):343-7.

90. Laureano Filho JR, Maurette PE, Allais M, Cotinho M, Fernandes C. Clinical comparative study of the effectiveness of two dosages of dexamethasone to control postoperative swelling, trismus and pain after the surgical extraction of mandibular impacted third molars. CEP. 2008;54753:220.

91. Merskey HE. Classification of chronic pain: Descriptions of chronic pain syndromés and definitions of pain terms. Pain. 1986.

92. Treede R-D, Meyer RA, Raja SN, Campbell JN. Peripheral and central mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia. Progress in neurobiology. 1992;38(4):397-421.

93. Ong CK, Seymour R. Pathogenesis of postoperative oral surgical pain. Anesthesia progress. 2003;50(1):5.

94. Ducharme J. Acute pain and pain control: state of the art. Annals of emergency medicine. 2000;35(6):592-603.

95. Bardiau F. TN, Albert A. . An Intervention study to enhach postoperative pain management. Anesthetic Analg. 2003;96:179–85.

96. Coulthard P, Haywood D, Tai MA, Jackson-Leech D, Pleuvry BJ, Macfarlane TV. Treatment of postoperative pain in oral and maxillofacial surgery. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;38(6):588-92.

97. Dubois RN, Abramson SB, Crofford L, Gupta RA, Simon LS, A. Van De Putte LB, et al. Cyclooxygenase in biology and disease. The FASEB journal. 1998;12(12):1063-73.

98. Ferreira S. Peripheral analgesia: mechanism of the analgesic action of aspirin-like drugs and opiate-antagonists. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1980;10(S2):237S-45S.

99. Seymour R, Walton J. Pain control after third molar surgery. International journal of oral surgery. 1984;13(6):457-85.

100. Swift JQ, Garry MG, Roszkowski MT, Hargreaves KM. Effect of flurbiprofen on tissue levels of immunoreactive bradykinin and acute postoperative pain. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 1993;51(2):112-6.

101. Hargreaves K, Abbott P. Drugs for pain management in dentistry. Australian dental journal. 2005;50:S14-S22.

102. Hyllested M, Jones S, Pedersen J, Kehlet H. Comparative effect of paracetamol, NSAIDs or their combination in postoperative pain management: a qualitative review. British journal of anaesthesia. 2002;88(2):199-214.

103. Ong CK, Seymour RA, Lirk P, Merry AF. Combining paracetamol (acetaminophen) with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: a qualitative systematic review of analgesic efficacy for acute postoperative pain. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(4):1170-9.

104. Bjørnsson G, Haanaes H, Skoglund L. A randomized, double-blind crossover trial of paracetamol 1000 mg four times daily vs ibuprofen 600 mg: effect on swelling and other postoperative events after third molar surgery. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2003;55(4):405-12.

105. Arth GE, Johnston DB, Fried J, Spooncer WW, Hoff DR, Sarett LH. 16-methylated steroids. I. 16α-methylated analogs of cortisone, a new group of anti-inflammatory steroids. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 1958;80(12):3160-1.

106. Zabirowicz ES, Gan TJ. Pharmacology of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. Pharmacology and Physiology for Anesthesia: Elsevier; 2019. p. 671-92.

107. Fleisher TA, Shearer WT, Frew AJ, Schroeder Jr HW, Weyand CM. Clinical immunology, principles and practice (Expert Consult-Online and Print), 4: Clinical immunology: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2013.

108. George MD. A Novel Corona Virus (COVID-19) Pandemic, Pathogenesis, Clinical Features and Management Options, Public Health Measures. 2020.

109. Baxendale B, Vater M, Lavery K. Dexamethasone reduces pain and swelling following extraction of third molar teeth. Anaesthesia. 1993;48(11):961-4.

110. Punchard NA, Whelan CJ, Adcock I. The journal of inflammation. BioMed Central; 2004.

111. Kim K, Brar P, Jakubowski J, Kaltman S, Lopez E. The use of corticosteroids and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory medication for the management of pain and inflammation

after third molar surgery: a review of the literature. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2009;107(5):630-40.

112. Alexander RE, Throndson RR. A review of perioperative corticosteroid use in dentoalveolar surgery. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2000;90(4):406-15.

113. Devlin NJ, Appleby J. Getting the most out of PROMS. Putting health outcomes at the heart of NHS decision-making London: The King's Fund. 2010.

114. Health Do. Guidance on the routine collection of patient reported outcome measures (PROMs). Department of Health London; 2008.

115. Greenhalgh J, Meadows K. The effectiveness of the use of patient-based measures of health in routine practice in improving the process and outcomes of patient care: a literature review. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 1999;5(4):401-16.

116. Boyce MB, Browne JP, Greenhalgh J. The experiences of professionals with using information from patient-reported outcome measures to improve the quality of

healthcare: a systematic review of qualitative research. BMJ Qual saf. 2014;23(6):508-18.
117. Stratford PW, Binkley JM. Applying the results of self-report measures to individual patients: an example using the Roland-Morris questionnaire. Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy. 1999;29(4):232-9.

118. Fitzpatrick R, Davey C, Buxton M, Jones D. Evaluating patient focused outcomes. Overview of systematic methodology reviews. 1998;2(14):15.

119. Ogon M, Krismer M, Söllner W, Kantner-Rumplmair W, Lampe A. Chronic low back pain measurement with visual analogue scales in different settings. Pain. 1996;64(3):425-8.

120. Scott J, Huskisson E. Graphic representation of pain. Pain. 1976;2(2):175-84.

121. Gaston-Johansson F, Gustafsson M. Rheumatoid arthritis: determination of pain characteristics and comparison of RAI and VAS in its measurement. Pain. 1990;41(1):35-40.
122. Downie W, Leatham P, Rhind V, Wright V, Branco J, Anderson J. Studies with pain rating scales. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1978;37(4):378-81.

123. Coll AM, Ameen JR, Mead D. Postoperative pain assessment tools in day surgery: literature review. Journal of advanced nursing. 2004;46(2):124-33.

124. Melzack R. The short-form McGill pain questionnaire. Pain. 1987;30(2):191-7.

125. Grafton KV, Foster NE, Wright CC. Test-retest reliability of the Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire: assessment of intraclass correlation coefficients and limits of agreement in patients with osteoarthritis. The Clinical journal of pain. 2005;21(1):73-82.

126. Locker D, Allen PF. Developing short-form measures of oral health-related quality of life. Journal of public health dentistry. 2002;62(1):13-20.

127. Slade GD, Spencer AJ. Development and evaluation of the oral health impact profile. Community dental health. 1994;11(1):3-11.

128. Locker D. Measuring oral health: a conceptual framework. Community Dent Health. 1988;5:3-18.

129. Organization WH. International classification of impairments, disabilities, and handicaps: a manual of classification relating to the consequences of disease, published in accordance with resolution WHA29. 35 of the Twenty-ninth World Health Assembly, May 1976. 1980.

130. Slade GD. Derivation and validation of a short-form oral health impact profile. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 1997;25(4):284-90.

131. Slade GD. Measuring oral health and quality of life. Chapel Hill. 1997;3.

132. Kloostra PW, Eber RM, Wang HL, Inglehart MR. Surgical versus non-surgical periodontal treatment: Psychosocial factors and treatment outcomes. Journal of periodontology. 2006;77(7):1253-60.

133. Rhudy JL, Meagher MW. Fear and anxiety: divergent effects on human pain thresholds. Pain. 2000;84(1):65-75.

134. van Wijk A, Lindeboom J. The effect of a separate consultation on anxiety levels before third molar surgery. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2008;105(3):303-7.

135. Weisenberg M. Cognitive aspects of pain and pain control. International journal of clinical and experimental hypnosis. 1998;46(1):44-61.

136. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta psychiatrica scandinavica. 1983;67(6):361-70.

137. Herrmann C. International experiences with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-a review of validation data and clinical results. Journal of psychosomatic research. 1997;42(1):17-41.

138. Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT, Neckelmann D. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale: an updated literature review. Journal of psychosomatic research. 2002;52(2):69-77.

139. Deng Y, He S, Wang J. Validation of the hospital anxiety and depression scale and the perceived stress scale and psychological features in patients with periodontitis. Journal of Periodontology.

140. Wiriyakijja P, Porter S, Fedele S, Hodgson T, McMillan R, Shephard M, et al. Validation of the HADS and PSS-10 and a cross-sectional study of psychological status in patients with recurrent aphthous stomatitis. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine. 2020;49(3):260-70.

141. Wiriyakijja P, Porter S, Fedele S, Hodgson T, McMillan R, Shephard M, et al. Validation of the HADS and PSS-10 and psychological status in patients with oral lichen planus. Oral diseases. 2020;26(1):96-110.

142. Sullivan MJ, Bishop SR, Pivik J. The pain catastrophizing scale: development and validation. Psychological assessment. 1995;7(4):524.

143. Sullivan MJ, Thorn B, Haythornthwaite JA, Keefe F, Martin M, Bradley LA, et al. Theoretical perspectives on the relation between catastrophizing and pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 2001;17(1):52-64.

144. Chaves JF, Brown JM. Spontaneous cognitive strategies for the control of clinical pain and stress. Journal of behavioral medicine. 1987;10(3):263-76.

145. Rosenstiel AK, Keefe FJ. The use of coping strategies in chronic low back pain patients: relationship to patient characteristics and current adjustment. Pain. 1983;17(1):33-44.

146. Spanos NP, Radtke-Bodorik HL, Ferguson JD, Jones B. The effects of hypnotic susceptibility, suggestions for analgesia, and the utilization of cognitive strategies on the reduction of pain. Journal of abnormal psychology. 1979;88(3):282.

147. Heyneman NE, Fremouw WJ, Gano D, Kirkland F, Heiden L. Individual differences and the effectiveness of different coping strategies for pain. Cognitive Therapy and Research. 1990;14(1):63-77.

148. Keefe FJ, Brown GK, Wallston KA, Caldwell DS. Coping with rheumatoid arthritis pain: catastrophizing as a maladaptive strategy. Pain. 1989;37(1):51-6.

149. Vallis TM. A complete component analysis of stress inoculation for pain tolerance. Cognitive Therapy and Research. 1984;8(3):313-29.

150. Gagne RM, Briggs LJ. Principles of instructional design: Holt, Rinehart & Winston; 1974.

151. Milgrom P, Weinstein P, Kleinknecht R, Getz T. Treating fearful dental patients: a clinical handbook. New York, Appleton. 1985.

152. Hakeberg M, Berggren U, Carlsson SG. Prevalence of dental anxiety in an adult population in a major urban area in Sweden. Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. 1992;20(2):97-101.

153. Kendler KS, Neale MC, Kessler RC, Heath AC, Eaves LJ. The genetic epidemiology of phobias in women: The interrelationship of agoraphobia, social phobia, situational phobia, and simple phobia. Archives of General Psychiatry. 1992;49(4):273-81.

154. Klingberg G. Dental fear and behavior management problems in children. A study of measurement, prevalence, concomitant factors, and clinical effects. Swedish dental journal Supplement. 1995;103:1-78.

155. Moore R, Brødsgaard I, Birn H. Manifestations, acquisition and diagnostic categories of dental fear in a self-referred population. Behaviour Research and Therapy. 1991;29(1):51-60.

156. McNeil D, Helfer A, Weaver B, Graves R, Kyle B, Davis A. Memory of pain and anxiety associated with tooth extraction. Journal of dental research. 2011;90(2):220-4.

157. Dripps R. New classification of physical status. Anesthesiology. 1963;24:111.

158. StataCorp L. Stata statistical software: release 14. StataCorp LP. 2015.

159. Corah NL, O'Shea RM, Pace LF, Seyrek SK. Development of a patient measure of satisfaction with the dentist: the Dental Visit Satisfaction Scale. Journal of behavioral medicine. 1984;7(4):367-73.

160. Brown SW, Nelson A-M, Bronkesh SJ, Wood SD. Patient satisfaction pays: Quality service for practice success: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 1993.

161. Team RC. R: A language and environment for statistical computing: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.; 2020 [Available from: URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.

162. Team R. RStudio: Integrated Development for R RStudio, PBC: Boston, MA, USA, 20202020 [Available from: <u>http://www.rstudio.com/</u>.

163. Korkmaz S, Goksuluk D, Zararsiz G. MVN: An R package for assessing multivariate normality. The R Journal. 2014;6(2):151-62.

164. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal statistical society: series B (Methodological). 1995;57(1):289-300.

165. Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. arXiv preprint arXiv:14065823. 2014.

166. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. 2016;10:978-0.

167. Antczak-Bouckoms AA, Tulloch JC, Berkey CS. Split-mouth and cross-over designs in dental research. Journal of clinical periodontology. 1990;17(7):446-53.

168. Ramfjord SP, Nissle RR, Shick RA, Cooper Jr H. Subgingival curettage versus surgical elimination of periodontal pockets. The Journal of Periodontology. 1968;39(3):167-75.
169. Chalmers TC. The clinical trial. The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly Health and

Society. 1981;59(3):324-39.

170. Taso E, Stefanovic V, Gaudin A, Grujic J, Maldonado E, Petkovic-Curcin A, et al. Effect of dental caries on periodontal inflammatory status: A split-mouth study. Archives of oral biology. 2020;110:104620.

171. Giannelli M, Formigli L, Lorenzini L, Bani D. Combined photoablative and photodynamic diode laser therapy as an adjunct to non-surgical periodontal treatment. A randomized split-mouth clinical trial. Journal of clinical periodontology. 2012;39(10):962-70.

172. Martin WJ, Ashton-James C, Skorpil N, Heymans M, Forouzanfar T. What constitutes a clinically important pain reduction in patients after third molar surgery? Pain Research and Management. 2013;18(6):319-22.

173. Kamper SJ, Ostelo RW, Knol DL, Maher CG, de Vet HC, Hancock MJ. Global Perceived Effect scales provided reliable assessments of health transition in people with musculoskeletal disorders, but ratings are strongly influenced by current status. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2010;63(7):760-6. e1.

174. Wickström K, Edelstam G. Minimal clinically important difference for pain on the VAS scale and the relation to quality of life in women with endometriosis. Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare. 2017;13:35-40.

175. McColl E, Jacoby A, Thomas L, Soutter J, Bamford C, Steen N, et al. Design and use of questionnaires: a review of best practice applicable to surveys of health service staff and patients. 2001.

176. Edwards P, Roberts I, Clarke M, DiGuiseppi C, Pratap S, Wentz R, et al. Increasing response rates to postal questionnaires: systematic review. Bmj. 2002;324(7347):1183.

177. Sadovsky R, Dodick DW. Identifying migraine in primary care settings. The American Journal of Medicine Supplements. 2005;118:11-7.

178. Roelofs J, Peters ML, Patijn J, Schouten EG, Vlaeyen JW. Electronic diary assessment of pain-related fear, attention to pain, and pain intensity in chronic low back pain patients. Pain. 2004;112(3):335-42.

179. Ferrari R. Effect of a symptom diary on symptom frequency and intensity in healthy subjects. The Journal of rheumatology. 2010;37(11):2387-9.

180. Ferrari R, Louw D. Effect of a pain diary use on recovery from acute whiplash injury: a cohort study. Journal of Zhejiang University SCIENCE B. 2013;14(11):1049-53.

181. Bailey E, Kashbour W, Shah N, Worthington HV, Renton TF, Coulthard P. Surgical techniques for the removal of mandibular wisdom teeth. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2020(7).

182. CentralStatisticsOffice. Prevalence of smoking, drinking alcohol and consumption of fruit and vegetables of persons aged 15 and over 2020 [updated 06/11/2020. Available from: https://data.cso.ie/table/IH078.

183. Berkley KJ. Sex differences in pain. Behavioral and Brain Sciences. 1997;20(3):371-80.

184. Osman A, Barrios FX, Gutierrez PM, Kopper BA, Merrifield T, Grittmann L. The Pain Catastrophizing Scale: further psychometric evaluation with adult samples. Journal of behavioral medicine. 2000;23(4):351-65.

185. Khan RS, Skapinakis P, Ahmed K, Stefanou DC, Ashrafian H, Darzi A, et al. The association between preoperative pain catastrophizing and postoperative pain intensity in cardiac surgery patients. Pain Medicine. 2012;13(6):820-7.

186. Abrahamsson KH, Berggren U, Hallberg L, Carlsson SG. Dental phobic patients' view of dental anxiety and experiences in dental care: a qualitative study. Scandinavian journal of caring sciences. 2002;16(2):188-96.

187. Berggren U, Meynert G. Dental fear and avoidance: causes, symptoms, and consequences. Journal of the American Dental Association (1939). 1984;109(2):247-51.
188. Hill K, Chadwick B, Freeman R, O'sullivan I, Murray J. Adult Dental Health Survey 2009: relationships between dental attendance patterns, oral health behaviour and the

current barriers to dental care. British dental journal. 2013;214(1):25-32.

189. MacGregor AJ. The impacted lower wisdom tooth: Oxford University Press, USA;1985.

190. Renton T, Smeeton N, McGurk M. Factors predictive of difficulty of mandibular third molar surgery. British dental journal. 2001;190(11):607-10.

191. Sandison A, Scriven M, Foster M, Lewis M, Boyle CO. Assessment of quality of life in surgery. British Journal of Surgery. 1992;79(10):1110-1.

192. Ware JE. Measuring patients' views: the optimum outcome measure. BMJ: British Medical Journal. 1993;306(6890):1429.

193. Black N, Jenkinson C. Measuring patients' experiences and outcomes. Bmj. 2009;339.

Bramantoro T, Hariyani N, Setyowati D, Purwanto B, Zulfiana AA, Irmalia WR. The impact of oral health on physical fitness: A systematic review. Heliyon. 2020;6(4):e03774.
McGrath C, Comfort MB, Lo EC, Luo Y. Patient-centred outcome measures in oral surgery: validity and sensitivity. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2003;41(1):43-7.

196. Ehsan A, Ali Bukhari SG, Ashar, Manzoor A, Junaid M. Effects of pre-operative submucosal dexamethasone injection on the postoperative swelling and trismus following surgical extraction of mandibular third molar. Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons--Pakistan : JCPSP. 2014;24(7):489-92.

197. Azam K, Hussain A, Maqsood A, Farooqui WA. Effects of surgery duration on postextraction sequelae following impacted third molar surgery by using two different bone cutting methods; a double blind randomized trial. Pakistan Oral & Dental Journal. 2016;36(1).

198. Blum I. Contemporary views on dry socket (alveolar osteitis): a clinical appraisal of standardization, aetiopathogenesis and management: a critical review. International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2002;31(3):309-17.

199. Pitros P, O'Connor N, Tryfonos A, Lopes V. A systematic review of the complications of high-risk third molar removal and coronectomy: development of a decision tree model and preliminary health economic analysis to assist in treatment planning. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2020.

200. Vallerand WP, Vallerand AH, Heft M. The effects of postoperative preparatory information on the clinical course following third molar extraction. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 1994;52(11):1165-70.

Appendices

Appendix I

COISTE EITICE UM THAIGHDE CLINICIUIL Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals

'el: +353-21-4901901 :mail: crec@ucc.ie University College Cork Lancaster Hall 6 Little Hanover Street Cork Ireland

CREC Review Reference Number: ECM 4 (b) 18/06/19

Date: 11th June 2019

Dr Catherine Gallagher Specialist in Oral Surgery Cork University Dental Hospital Wilton Cork

Study Title: Evaluation of the effect of submucosal dexamethasone injection in patients undergoing third molar removal in terms of pain experienced and impact on quality of life, a randomized control trial.

Approval is granted to carry out the above study at:

Cork University Dental School and Hospital.

The following documents have been approved:

Document	Approved	Version	Date
Cover Letter	Yes		5 th May 2019
Application Form	Yes		14 th May 2019
CV for Chief Investigator	Yes		
Evidence of Insurance	Yes		
Study Protocol	Yes		
Participant Information Leaflet	Yes		
Consent Form	Yes		
Study Questionnaire/Survey	Yes		

We note that the co-investigator(s) involved in this project will be:

Name	Occupation
Professor Duncan Sleeman	Consultant Oral and Maxillo-facial Surgeon
Dr Paul Brady	Consultant in Sedation
Dr Caroline McCarthy	Specialist in Oral Surgery
Dr Miriam Crowley	Specialist Registrar in Oral Surgery.

Please note that the above study must be carried out in accordance with GDPR 2018 and clearance must be obtained from the Health Research Consent Declaration Committee if applicable. Information is available on the following link http://www.hrcdc.ie/

Please keep a copy of this signed approval letter in your study master file for audit purposes.

You should note that ethical approval will lapse if you do not adhere to the following conditions:

1. Submission of an Annual Progress Report/Annual Renewal Survey (due annually from the date of this approval letter)

- 2. Report unexpected adverse events, serious adverse events or any event that may affect ethical acceptability of the study
- Submit any change to study documentation (minor or major) to CREC for review and approval. Amendments must be submitted on an amendment application form and revised study documents must clearly highlight the changes and contain a new version number and date. Amendments cannot be implemented without written approval from CREC.
- 4. Notify CREC of discontinuation of the study
- 5. Submit an End of Trial Declaration Form and Final Study Report/Study Synopsis when the study has been completed.

Yours sincerely

Professor David Kerins

Chairman Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals

The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals, UCC, is a recognised Ethics Committee under Regulation 7 of the European Communities (Clinical Trials on Medicinal Products for Human Use) Regulations 2004, and is authorised by the Department of Health and Children to carry out the ethical review of clinical trials of investigational medicinal products. The Committee is fully compliant with the Regulations as they relate to Ethics Committees and the conditions and principles of Good Clinical Practice.

Appendix II

Consent for participation in research study

AGREEMENT

The research project and the procedures associated with it have been fully explained to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions concerning all aspects of the project and any procedures involved. I am aware that participation is voluntary and that I may withdraw my consent at any time. I am aware that my decision not to participate or to withdraw will not restrict my access to health care services normally available to me. Confidentiality of records concerning my involvement in this project will be maintained in an appropriate manner. When required by law, the records of this research may be reviewed by government agencies and sponsors of the research.

I understand that the sponsors and investigators have such insurance as is required by law in the event of injury resulting from this research.

I, the undersigned, hereby consent to participate as a subject in the above described project conducted at University Dental School and Hospital, Cork. I have received a copy of this consent form for my records. I understand that if I have any questions concerning this research, I can contact the Chief Investigator listed above. I understand that the study has been approved by the Cork Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals (CREC) and if I have further queries concerning my rights in connection with the research, I can contact CREC at Lancaster Hall, 6 Little Hanover Street, Cork, 021 4901901.

Please circle yes or no for the questions that follow:

I have read and understand the study: Yes / No I agree to participate in this research: Yes / No I grant permission for the data collected to be used in this research only: Yes / No I understand that my anonymised data will be stored at University Dental School and Hospital, Cork for seven years: Yes / No

Chief Investigator Signature: _____

Signature of Study Participant: _____

Witness Signature (if applicable):

Date: _____

Appendix III

PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET FOR RESEARCH STUDY

Patient Name:

Study Title:

Evaluation of the effect of submucosal dexamethasone injection in patients undergoing third molar removal in terms of pain experienced and impact on quality of life, a randomised control trial.

Name of Chief Investigator: Dr Catherine Gallagher

Contact Number for Chief Investigator: 021 4901170

You are being asked to participate in a research study. In order to decide whether or not you want to be a part of this research study, you should understand enough about its risks and benefits to make an informed judgment. This process is known as informed consent. This consent form gives detailed information about the research study. The Chief Investigator will also discuss the study with you in detail. When you are sure you understand the study and what will be expected of you, you will be asked to sign this form if you wish to participate.

Nature and Duration of the procedure: The aim of this research is to look at the effect of a localized steroid injection around the area the tooth had been removed. Specifically, does this improve quality of life in the recovery period for you as the patient. All other aspects of your treatment will be standard procedure. You will receive local anaesthetic on both sides of your mouth that lasts on average 2-3 hours. One side will receive an additional injection of a steroid, dexamethasone. Some pain is expected after wisdom tooth extraction despite being numb. We want to look at how satisfied you are following your extraction and if there is a difference in pain at either extraction site. You will be required to fill out a pain diary and questionnaire once daily for 1 week following surgery. A stamped addressed envelope will be provided for ease of returning the questionnaires to us. There will be no additional appointments required.

The surgery will be carried out by an experienced Oral surgeon. A single experienced oral surgeon will carry out both the right and left extraction.

Potential Risks and Benefits: There are no additional risks associated with taking part in this study, other than those already associated with wisdom tooth removal.

Possible alternatives: Your participation is entirely. Whether you agree to take part or not will not affect your treatment in any way.

Appendix IV

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

NAME: Date:

PATIENT NO.: PATIENT REF:

Tick (V) the box of the answer that is most appropriate to you:

	Yes definitely	Yes sometimes	No, not much	No, not at all
1. I wake early then sleep badly for				
the rest of the night				
2. I get very frightened or have panic				
feelings for apparently no reason at all				
3. I feel miserable and sad				
4. I feel anxious when I go out of the				
house on my own				
5. I have lost interest in things				
6. I get palpitations, or sensations of				
"butterflies" in my stomach or chest				
7. I have a good appetite				
8. I feel scared or frightened				
9. I feel life is not worth living				
10. I still enjoy the things I used to				
11. I am restless and can't keep still				
12. I am more irritable than usual				
13. I feel as if I have slowed down				
14. Worrying thoughts constantly go				
through my mind				

Appendix V

PAIN CATASTROPHISING SCALE

Name:	Patient CDS:
Date:	Patient Ref:

Everyone experiences painful situations at some point in their lives. We are interested in the types of thoughts and feelings that you have when you are in pain. Listed below are thirteen statements describing different thoughts and feelings that may be associated with pain.

Using the following scale, please indicate the degree to which you have these thoughts and feelings when you are experiencing pain.

0= not at all **1**=to a slight degree **2**=to a moderate degree **3**=to a great degree **4**=all the time

When I'm in pain ...

,	I worry all the time about whether the pain will end.
2	I feel I can't go on.
3	It's terrible and I think it's never going to get any better.
4	It's awful and I feel that it overwhelms me.
5	I feel I can't stand it anymore.
6	I become afraid that the pain will get worse.
7	I keep thinking of other painful events.
8	I anxiously want the pain to go away.
	I can't seem to keep it out of my mind.
10	I keep thinking about how much it hurts.
п	I keep thinking about how badly I want the pain to stop.
12	There's nothing I can do to reduce the intensity of the pain.
13	I wonder whether something serious may happen.

Appendix VI

Oral Health Impact Profile – 14

NAME:

PATIENT NO.:

Date: PATIENT REF:

Tick (V) the box of the answer that is most appropriate to you:

	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
1. Have you had trouble pronouncing any words because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
2. Have you felt that your sense of taste has worsened because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
3. Have you had painful aching in your mouth?				
4. Have you found it uncomfortable to eat any foods because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
5. Have you been self-conscious because of your teeth or mouth?				
6. Have you felt tense because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				
7. Has your diet been unsatisfactory because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				
8. Have you had to interrupt meals because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				
9. Have you found it difficult to relax because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
10. Have you been a bit embarrassed because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
11. Have you been a bit irritable with other people because of problems with your teeth and mouth?				
12. Have you had difficulty doing your usual jobs because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				
13. Have you felt that life, in general, was less satisfying because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				
14. Have you been totally unable to function because of problems with your teeth or mouth?				

Appendix VII

Clinical Trial of Submucosal Dexamethasone Injection in Patients Undergoing Extraction of Bilateral Impacted Wisdom Teeth

Surgical Questionnaire

Date____ Patient study number: Surgeon's Name:

Surgical Information for Lower Right (Quadrant 4)

Duration of Procedure: ____:___mm: ss

State of eruption LR8 (Please circle ONE response)

- 1. Erupted
- 2. Partially erupted
- 3. Unerupted

Extraction technique (please circle ONE response)

- 1. Bone removal, tooth division and elevation
- 2. Bone removal and elevation
- 3. Elevation only

How would you describe the impaction?

Was it? (please circle ONE response)

- 1. Mesio-angular
- 2. Disto-angular
- 3. Horizontal
- Vertical

How would you describe the extraction,

was it? (please circle response)

- 1. Routine
- 2. Complex
- 3. Highly complex

Additional notes (if required):

Surgical Information for Lower Left (Quadrant 3)

Duration of Procedure: __:__ mm: ss

State of eruption LL8 (Please circle one response)

- 1. Erupted
- 2. Partially erupted
- Unerupted

Extraction technique (please circle ONE response)

- 1. Bone removal, tooth division and elevation
- 2. Bone removal and elevation
- 3. Elevation only

How would you describe the Impaction? Was it? (please circle ONE response)

- 1. Mesio-angular
- 2. Disto-angular
- 3. Horizontal
- Vertical

How would you describe the extraction,

was it? (please circle response)

- 1. Routine
- 2. Complex
- 3. Highly Complex

Date of birth: Male or female:

Patient Name:

Hospital Number:

Appendix VIII

Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire

PATIENT NAME:	DATE:	
PATIENT REF:	PT NO.:	

Please tick (v) the circle for the amount of pain you are experiencing in relation to your mouth

Throbbing	None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
Shooting	0	0	0	0
Stabbing	0	0	0	0
Sharp	0	0	0	0
Cramping	0	0	0	0
Gnawing	0	0	0	\circ
Hot-burning	0	0	0	\circ
Aching	0	0	0	0
Heavy	0	0	0	0
Tender	0	0	0	0
Splitting	0	0	0	\circ
Exhausting	0	0	0	0
Sickening	0	0	0	0
Fearful	0	0	0	0
Punishing	0	0	0	0

Please indicate present pain intensity:



Present pain intensity; Please tick one:

- 0. None___
- 1. Mild____
- 2. Discomforting____
- 3. Distressing____
- Horrible____
- 5. Excruciating____

Appendix IX

Pain Diary

1. Did you have pain that you associate w	vith your dental surgery today? (please tick)
Yes 🗆	No 🗆
2. Did pain associated with your dental se	urgery affect what you could or could not do today?
Yes 🗆	No 🗆
If yes, in what way?	
3. Did pain associated with your dental se	urgery affect your speech today?
Yes 🗆	No 🗆
4. Did pain associated with your dental se	urgery affect your diet today?
Yes 🗆	No 🗆
	8
5. Did you take painkillers today, to treat	pain from your dental surgery?
ParacetamolTablets	
KeralTablets	
OxynormTablets	
6 Did you need to see a deptict today for	s complications associated with the surgery?
6. Did you need to see a dentist today for	- complications associated with the surgery:
100	
7 Indicate how bad your pain is on the U	FET side of your mouth
0	10
No Pain	Worst possible pain
8. Indicate how bad your pain is on the R	IGHT side of your mouth
,	
0 No Pain	10
	Worst possible pain

Appendix X

DENTAL VISIT SATISFACTION SCALE

NAME:

PATIENT NO .:

PATIENT REF:

DATE:

Please circle the most appropriate score for the statements below, using the following scale;

- 1- Strongly disagree
- 2- Disagree
- 3- Neither agree or disagree
- 4- Agree
- 5- Strongly agree
- 1. After talking with the dentist, I know what the purpose of my procedure is.

2. After talking with the dentist, I have a good idea what to expect in the next few weeks.

- 3. The dentist told me all I wanted to know about the procedure.
- 4. I felt understood by the dentist.

2 3

5. I felt that the dentist really knew how upset I was about the possibility of pain.

- 6. I felt the dentist accepted me as a person.

7. The dentist was thorough in doing the procedure.

8. The dentist was too rough when he worked on me.

- 9. I was satisfied with what the dentist did.

10. The dentist seemed to know what he was doing during my visit.

11. Thinking back at having your wisdom teeth removed, do you have a preference to the

treatment you received?

Right side□ OR Left side □ (Please V)

12. Please indicate any further comments on matters associated with your procedure in the box below.